
August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 1 

 
 

AGENDA 
CITY OF FERNDALE – HUMBOLDT COUNTY CALIFORNIA – U.S.A. 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

Location: City Hall 
834 Main Street 
Ferndale CA 95536 

Date: August 4, 2011 

 Time: 7 pm 

 Posted: 8/1/11  
 
We welcome you to the meeting. Members of the Public may be heard on any business item on this Agenda before or 

during the City Council consideration of the item. The public may also directly address the City Council on any item of interest 
to the public that is not on the Agenda during the public comment time; however, the City Council generally cannot take action 
on an item not on the agenda. 

A person addressing the City Council will be limited to five (5) minutes unless the Mayor of the City Council grants a 
longer period of time. While not required, we would appreciate it if you would identify yourself with your name and address 
when addressing the Council. 

This City endeavors to be ADA compliant. Should you require assistance with written information or access to the 
facility, or a hearing amplification, please call 786-4224 24 hours prior to the meeting. 

TO SPEAK ON ANY ISSUE, BE ACKNOWLEDGED BY THE MAYOR BEFORE PROCEEDING TO THE PODIUM, STATE YOUR 
NAME AND ADDRESS FOR THE RECORD (optional), AND DIRECT YOUR COMMENTS ONLY TO THE COUNCIL. 

 
1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER – Mayor 
2. PLEDGE ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG 
3. ROLL CALL – City Clerk 
4. CEREMONIAL:  

a. Fernbridge Centennial Celebration Proclamation .............................................  Page 4 
5. MODIFICATIONS TO THE AGENDA 
6. STUDY SESSIONS  
7. PUBLIC COMMENT. (This time is for persons who wish to address the Council on 

any matter not on this agenda and over which the Council has jurisdiction. Items 
requiring Council action not listed on this agenda will be placed on the next 
regular agenda for consideration, unless a finding is made by at least 2/3rds of 
the Council that the item came up after the agenda was posted and is of an 
urgent nature requiring immediate action. This portion of the meeting will be 
approximately 30 minutes total for all speakers, with each speaker given no 
more than five minutes.) ................................................................................................  Page 5 

8. CONSENT CALENDAR. (All matters listed under this category are considered to 
be routine by the City Council and will be enacted by one motion. Unless a 
specific request is made by a Councilmember, staff or the public, the Consent 
Calendar will not be read. There will be no separate discussion of these items. 
However, if discussion is required, that item will be removed from the Consent 
Calendar and considered separately under “Call Items.”) 

a. Acceptance of Accounts Payable .......................................................................  Page 6 
b. Approval of previous minutes:  

i. July 7, 2011 ...........................................................................................  Page 16 
ii. July 27, 2011 .........................................................................................  Page 18 

9. CALL ITEMS 
10. PRESENTATION / Community Forum  

  



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 2 

 
 

11. BUSINESS 
a. Resolution 2011-31 for 12th Progress Pay Request for Management and 

Construction Related Costs for the Wastewater Treatment Plant ....................  Page 20 
b. Acceptance of bid for Sewer Manhole project ..................................................  Page 24  
c. Art Exhibit on the City Green .............................................................................  Page 32 
d. Wind Turbine Update ........................................................................................  Page 33 
e. Exclusive Rights to Convey Ferndale Housing to a Non-Profit ...........................  Page 36 
f. Angelina Wellness Center ..................................................................................   Page 37 

12. CORRESPONDENCE  ........................................................................................................  Page 70 
13. REPORTS 

a. City Manager Staff Report and Community Events ...........................................  Page 72 
b. Commissions / Committees and others 

i. Health Department ...............................................................................  Page 80 
c. Council Reports and Comments 

i. HCAOG ..................................................................................................  Page 81 
ii. Salt River Watershed Council................................................................  Page 85 

14. ADJOURN ........................................................................................................................  Page 88 
This notice is posted in compliance with Government Code §54954.2. 
The next Regular Meeting of the Ferndale City Council will be held on 

THURSDAY, September 1, 2011 in the Auditorium of City Hall at 7:00pm 

  



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 3 

 
 

Section 1 

Call Meeting to Order 
 

Section 2 
Pledge Allegiance 

 
Section 3 
Roll Call 

 
Section 4 

Ceremonial 
Fernbridge Centennial Celebration Proclamation 

  



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 4 

 
 

A PROCLAMATION OF THE MAYOR  
OF THE CITY OF FERNDALE  

 

Honoring the Centennial Celebration of Fernbridge,  
the “Queen of the Bridges” on August 7, 2011  

 
 

WHEREAS, The Humboldt County Board of Supervisors approved proceeding with steps leading 
to the construction of a bridge over the Eel River near Singleys in 1909; and 
 
WHEREAS, The new bridge was dedicated on November 16, 1911, with ceremonies attended by 
1500 people; and 
 
WHEREAS, Fernbridge has been declared a State Historical Civil Engineering Landmark in 1976; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, Fernbridge was placed on the national Register of historic Places in 1987; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Fernbridge Celebration Committee has set August 7, 2011 as the day to 
celebrate the 100th Anniversary of Fernbridge; and  
 
WHEREAS, Fernbridge has withstood the great floods of 1913, 1937, 1955, 1964 and 1986; and 
 
WHEREAS, For a Century, the “Queen of the Bridges” has been a magnificent entryway into our 
town of Ferndale. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, the Mayor of Ferndale, on Behalf of the City Council of the City of Ferndale 
does hereby proclaim 
 

August 7, 2011 the 
Centennial Celebration of 

Fernbridge, the “Queen of Bridges” 
 

 
 
 
Attest: 
 
 

Nancy Kaytis-Slocum, City Clerk 

Proclaimed this 4th Day of August, 2011 
 
 

Jeffrey Farley, Mayor  

         
 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 5 

 
 

Section 5 

Modifications to the Agenda 
 

Section 6 
Study Sessions 

 

Section 7 

Public Comment 
 

This time is for persons who wish to address the Council on any matter not on this agenda and 
over which the Council has jurisdiction. 
 
Items requiring Council action not listed on this agenda will be placed on the next regular 
agenda for consideration, unless a finding is made by at least 2/3rd of the Council (three of the 
five members) that the item came up after the agenda was posted and is of an urgent nature 
requiring immediate action. 
 
This portion of the meeting will be approximately 30 minutes total for all speakers, with each 
speaker given no more than five minutes. Please state your name and address for the record. 
(This is optional.) 

 

Section 8 

Consent Agenda 
 
All matters listed under this category are considered to be routine by the City Council and will 
be enacted by one motion.  
 
Is there anyone on the Council, Staff or the public that would like to pull an item off the 
Consent Agenda for scrutiny? Those items will be considered separately under “Call Items.” 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 6 

 
 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 7 

 
 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 8 

 
 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 9 

 
 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 10 

 
 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 11 

 
 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 12 

 
 

 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 13 

 
 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 14 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 15 

 
 

 

 

  



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 16 

 
 

City of Ferndale, Humboldt County, California USA 
City Council Minutes for the July 7, 2011 Meeting 5:30 p.m. 

 
At 5:30 pm, Mayor Jeffrey Farley announced the closed session item: Public Employee Performance 
Evaluation per GC 54954.5 for the City Manager. The council came out of closed session and reported 
conducting City Manager evaluation. In open session, the council studied and discussed the Budget and 
the Wastewater Facility Change Order #6. The study session ended at 7:00 pm. 

Mayor Jeffrey Farley called the Regular City Council Meeting to order at 7:04 p.m. Present were 
Councilmen Titus, Lorenzen and Maxwell as well as City Manager Jay Parrish,  Finance Manager Deb 
Austrus,  Administrative Assistant Brianna Smith, Project Manager Kent Hanford and Police Chief Bret 
Smith. Councilman Mierzwa was absent. Those present pledged allegiance to the flag.  

Modifications to the Agenda: Pull item 5c Eugene Street entrance to Russ Park. There was no public 

comment. 

Consent Calendar: MOTION: (Maxwell/Titus) Accept Accounts Payable, Approve the minutes for June 2, 
2011 and June 20, 2011.  Three ayes with one nay from Lorenzen. 

Consultant Elizabeth Conner gave an update on Navy Housing. There will be a possible special meeting 
in a couple of weeks to establish a time limit for bids from property management agencies. Speaking 
from the public were Duane Martin and Dick Hooley discussing review of the environmental study, will 
meeting be open to the public? Why are they saying that only 12 units will be for low income? Elizabeth 
Connor explained that 50% is low income and the remaining 50% is moderate income.  

Russ Park Committee Activity Report and Work Plan:  Jim Stretch gave his annual report update along 
with work plan. MOTION: (Titus/Maxwell).  Approve the proposed 2011-12 Russ Park Work Plan as 
submitted. All in favor. 

Appointment of Russ Park Committee Members: Andrei Hedstrom gave a brief background why he 
wants to be part of the Russ Park Committee and that it will be a true pleasure to contribute and serve 
on the committee. MOTION: (Maxwell/Titus) Appoint city residents Andrei Hedstrom and Doug Olsen to 
fill the two vacancies on the Russ Park Committee, effective immediately. All in favor. 

Eugene Street entrance to Russ Park: Pulled agenda item until meeting with Jay Parrish, Jim Stretch and 
Gerald Silva. 

Resolution 2011-28 for 11th Progress Pay Request for Management and Construction Related Costs for 
the WWTP:  Kent Hanford gave an update.  Jorgen Von Frausing-Borch gave thanks to all for the hard 
work on the WWTP. MOTION: (Maxwell/Titus) Approve Resolution 2011-28 for 11th Progress Pay 
Request for Management and Construction Related Costs for the WWTP. Three ayes. Councilman 
Lorenzen abstained. 

Accept Change Order 6:  MOTION: (Maxwell/Titus) Approve Wastewater Treatment Plant Change Order 
#6. Three ayes with one nay from Lorenzen. 

Resolution 2011-29 Adoption of FY 11-12 Budget and Resolution 2011-30 Adoption of FY Fees and Fines 
Schedule: MOTION: (Farley/Maxwell) Approve Resolution 2011-30 Adoption of FY 11-12 Budget and 
Resolution 2011-30 Adoption of FY Fees and Fines. Three ayes with one nay from Lorenzen. 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 17 

 
 
Art Exhibit on the City Green: City Manager Jay Parrish spoke on possible sculpture by world famous 
Italian artist to be put in the city green. MOTION: (Titus/Maxwell) Provide opportunity to City Manager 
to explore this further.  All in favor. 

Resolution 2011-27 A Resolution to the City Council of the City of Ferndale to Close Brown Street from 
Main Street to the North Valley Bank Parking Lot on July 15, 2011 for the NVB Anniversary Celebration 
and to close the Remainder of Brown Street from the NVB Parking Lot to Berding Street for use of the 
Ferndale Fire Department:  MOTION: (Maxwell/Titus) Approve Resolution 2011-27. All in favor. 

City Manager Contract Review: MOTION: (Titus/Maxwell) Authorize staff to memorialize council 
direction regarding City Manager Contract and salary adjustment in a Resolution to be signed by the 
Mayor. Three ayes. Councilman Lorenzen abstained.  

Signs:  City Manager Jay Parrish gave update on Sign Ordinance. MOTION: (Maxwell/Titus). Delay 
enforcement of Sign Ordinance as long as businesses make progress on appropriate new ordinance 
language. Three ayes with one nay from Lorenzen. 

Change Order for Miksis Project: MOTION: (Titus/Maxwell) Approve the change order for Miksis project. 
Three ayes with one nay from Lorenzen. 

The meeting was adjourned at 8:30 pm. The next regular council meeting will be August 4, 2011. 

Respectfully Submitted: 

 

Brianna Smith 

Administrative Assistant 

  



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 18 

 
 

   City of Ferndale, Humboldt County, California USA 
City Council Minutes for the July 27, 2011 Special Meeting 5:30 p.m.  Page 1 

 
 

Mayor Jeffrey Farley called the Special Meeting to order at 5:35 p.m. Present were Councilmen Titus, 
Maxwell, Mierzwa and Lorenzen as well as City Manager Jay Parrish, Finance Manager Deb Austrus and 
Manhard representative Kent Hanford. 

The City Manager gave an update on Wastewater Treatment Plant Change Orders #7 & #8. Kent Hanford 
explained the scope of work that was associated with the change orders. 

Change Orders #7 & #8: MOTION: (Titus/Maxwell) Approve Wastewater Treatment Plant Change Orders 
#7 & #8. Four ayes with one nay from Lorenzen. 

No Closed Session. 

The meeting was adjourned at 6:05 pm.  

The next regular council meeting will be August 4, 2011. 

Respectfully Submitted: 

 

Deb Austrus 

Finance Manager 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 19 

 
 

Section 9 
 

CALL ITEMS 
 

These are items pulled from the consent agenda  
for discussion and a separate motion. 

 
 
 
 
 

Section 10 
 

PRESENTATIONS 
 

Section 11 

 
BUSINESS 

  



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 20 

 
 

Meeting Date: August 4, 2011 Agenda Item Number 11a 

Agenda Item Title: Resolution 2011-31 for 12th Progress Pay Request for 
Management and Construction Related Costs for the WWTP 

Presented  By: Jay Parrish, City Manager 

Type of Item: x Action  Discussion  Information 

Action Required:  No Action x Voice Vote  Roll Call Vote 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Approve Resolution 2011-31 12th Progress Pay Request for Management and Construction 
Related Costs for the WWTP. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Work on our WWTP began on August 2, 2010 and this is the 12th draw down from the USDA 
loan. The costs associated with this draw down include costs from Wahlund Construction for 
$594,491.22, Construction Management costs from Manhard Consulting for $23,247.66. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
$617,738.88 from the USDA loan account. 

 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 21 

 
 

 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 22 

 
 

 

  



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 23 

 
 

RESOLUTION 2011-31 

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FERNDALE  

APPROVES THE TWELFTH PARTIAL PAYMENT REQUEST TO WAHLUND CONSTRUCTION, MANHARD 

CONSULTING FOR THE WASTEWATER TREATMENT FACILITY PROJECT 

 

WHEREAS, Wahlund Construction began Work on our Wastewater Treatment Plant on August 2, 2010; 

and  

WHEREAS, Manhard Consulting is supplying Construction Administration for this project; and  

WHEREAS, The City of Ferndale will be processing partial pay requests on a monthly basis, as well as 

periodic individual bills; and  

WHEREAS, The City Council has received the eleventh partial payment request of $594,491.22 for 

Wahlund, $23,247.66  for Manhard Consulting. This all falls within the parameters of our WWTP budget. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Ferndale hereby approves 
payment of the Twelfth partial payment request in the amount of $594,491.22 for Wahlund, $23,247.66  
for Manhard Consulting for a total of $617,738.88 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED on this 4th day of August, 2011 by the following vote:  

AYES:       

NOES:      

ABSENT:    

ABSTAIN:    

                    ____________________ 

                Jeffrey Farley, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

___________________________ 

Nancy Kaytis-Slocum, City Clerk 

 

  



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 24 

 
 

Meeting Date: August 4, 2011 Agenda Item Number 11b 

Agenda Item Title: Resolution 2011-32 Awarding the Sewer Rehab Contract to DCI 
Builders 

Presented  By: Jay Parrish, City Manager 

Type of Item: x Action  Discussion  Information 

Action Required:  No Action x Voice Vote  Roll Call Vote 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Approve Resolution 2011-32 Awarding the Sewer Rehabilitation Contract to DCI Builders. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
A Request for Proposals went out to Install three new sanitary sewer manholes and three new 

sanitary sewer clean outs as per plans and specifications by Manhard Consulting LTD. An 

alternative was included to eliminate one clean out and add one manhole. 

We received the bids per the submittal requirements in the bid package. There were three 

bidders: DCI Builders ($49,125.00 with an alternative of $3,700); V&C Construction 

($91,683.75); Wahlund Construction ($131,500 with an alternative of $26,000). Engineer’s 

recommendation is to award the project to DCI Builders.  

 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
$60,748.75 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 25 

 
 

 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 26 

 
 

 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 27 

 
 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 28 

 
 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 29 

 
 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 30 

 
 

 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 31 

 
 

RESOLUTION 2011-32 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FERNDALE AWARDING THE  

SEWER REHABILITATION CONTRACT TO DCI BUILDERS. 

 

WHEREAS, The City Council of the City of Ferndale is a duly formed and organized general law city 

pursuant to California government Code Section 34102; and 

 

WHEREAS, Pursuant to Public Contracts Code Section 20162, formal bids were taken for the sewer 

rehabilitation project; and 

 

WHEREAS, DCI Builders was the lowest responsible bidder for the project, in the amount of a base bid of 

$49,125.00 for sewer manholes and sewer clean outs and an alternative bid of $3700 for the elimination 

of one clean out and adding one manhole, with a contingency of 15% or $7923.75 for a total of 

$60,748.75; and 

 

WHEREAS, the construction will conform to plans and specifications issued by the City. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Ferndale enters into a contract 

on behalf of the City of Ferndale and DCI Builders as the lowest responsible bidder for the Sewer 

Rehabilitation Project in the amount of a base bid of $$49,125.00 for sewer manholes and sewer clean 

outs and an alternative bid of $3700 for the elimination of one clean out and adding one manhole, with 

a contingency of 15% or $7923.75 for a total of $60,748.75 and authorizes the City Manager to execute 

any change orders to said contract or budgeted amount. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Ferndale on August 4, 2011, by the 
following vote:  
 

AYES:  

NOES:  

ABSENT:  

ABSTAIN:  

   

Jeffrey Farley, Mayor 

Attest: 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Nancy Kaytis-Slocum, City Clerk 

 

  



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 32 

 
 

Meeting Date: August 4, 2011 Agenda Item Number 11c 

Agenda Item Title: Art Exhibit on the City Green 

Presented  By: Jay Parrish, City Manager 

Type of Item: x Action  Discussion  Information 

Action Required:  No Action x Voice Vote  Roll Call Vote 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Authorize City Manager to negotiate an agreement to display sculpture at City Hall. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Joe Koches will give a presentation and show pictures of the sculpture and give background 
information. 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
None 
 
  



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 33 

 
 

Meeting Date: August 4, 2011 Agenda Item Number 11d 

Agenda Item Title: Wind Turbine Update 

Presented  By: Jay Parrish, City Manager 

Type of Item:  Action  Discussion x Information 

Action Required: x No Action  Voice Vote  Roll Call Vote 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Receive and file. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
In the early part of 2010, the City received a Notice of Preparation of an Environmental Impact 
Report / Environmental Impact Statement for the Bear River Ridge Wind Power Project. That 
led to a meeting between the City Manager and, at their request, the Mayor and Shell. At that 
meeting they informed us that there were challenges to a variety of different routes that could 
get them to the site and they were trying to narrow it down to either Monument Road or up 
the Wildcat. In a recent meeting and update with Shell regarding the project, it seems that the 
same challenges exist and continue to be analyzed. There was also discussion of the present 
transmission lines needing upgrading. Although this seems to be early in the process, the City 
once again expressed the same concerns that we expressed during our first meeting. We have 
included the letter dated February 18, 2010 as an attachment that enumerates these concerns. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
Unknown 
 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 34 

 
 

 

  



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 35 

 
 

  



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 36 

 
 

Meeting Date: August 4, 2011 Agenda Item Number 11e 

Agenda Item Title: Update on Navy Housing and set date for special meeting 
relating to conveyance issues 

Presented  By: Jay Parrish, City Manager 

Type of Item: x Action  Discussion  Information 

Action Required:  No Action x Voice Vote  Roll Call Vote 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Receive and file update and set date for Special meeting 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Schedule a special City Council meeting to discuss proposals from parties interested in owning 
the Navy Housing property and authorize staff to negotiate exclusively with which ever party 
the City Council deems appropriate. 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
Unknown 

          

  



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 37 

 
 

Meeting Date: August 4, 2011 Agenda Item Number 11f 

Agenda Item Title: Angelina Wellness Center 

Presented  By: Jay Parrish, City Manager 

Type of Item:  Action  Discussion x Information 

Action Required: x No Action  Voice Vote  Roll Call Vote 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Receive and file. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Steve Lasar, Humboldt County Planner, explained to staff that this project is still in the early 
stages and that there would be public hearings at the County level. What they are looking for 
now is site-specific anecdotal information; how the project may affect the City of Ferndale; 
localized knowledge for review. Lasar indicated that Mr. William Thorington, Chairman of the 
Board of Directors, President / CEO would be willing to attend a Council meeting, if requested, 
to provide additional information. 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
Unknown. 

  



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 38 

 
 

  



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 39 

 
 

County of Humboldt 

Humboldt Community Development Services 
 

Narrative for an application for a Conditional Use Permit by: 
 

Angelina Wellness Center  
Medical Marijuana Dispensary 

 

Prepared For: 

Humboldt County Planning Department      

Steve Lazar, Planner I 

3015 H Street, Eureka, CA 95501 

slazar@co.humboldt.ca.us 
 

I Introduction          2 

II Description of Application and Conditional Use Permit sought    2 

III List of the Applicants Officers, Board of Directors and Advisory Board   3 

IV Board of Director Résumé’s         4 

V The Narrative Business Plan         7 

 a. Member Screening and Access Procedure     8 

 b. Member-Patient Purchasing of Medical Cannabis    9 

 c. Member-Grower Supply of Medical Cannabis     9 

VI Proof of Ability to provide insurance and Indemnification    11 

VII Description of Facility and Location       11 

VIII Description of estimated size of operation: # members; # qualified patients  13 

IX Description of Services: Hours and Days of operation     13 

X Description of Staff: # of persons per shift during hours of operation   14 

XI Description of Security Systems        15 

XII Description of Chemicals used and stored on site      16 

XIII Description of effluent discharged and Odor control     16 

XIV Copy of Operations Manual        16 

 a. Staff Screening and Background checks      16 

 b. Description of Inventory Control System (ICS) and Tracking mechanisms 17 

 c. Description of screening, registration and validation of qualified patients  18 

 d. Description of qualified patient acquisition records and retention   19 

              procedures 

 e. Description of tracking on-site cultivation (clones) and processing & off-   

              site receipts of plants, and products       20 

XV Description of a Cannabis Safety Program       20 

 a. Process for documenting ―chain of custody‖ of all cannabis and cannabis   

               products         20 

 b. Procedure and documentation to establish safety and quality of all medical    

              cannabis and medical cannabis products      22 

 c. Procedure and documentation for determining product Cannabinoid    

              potency          22 

XVI Other Elements of the CUP/CDP application      24 

a.       Medical Marijuana Testing Facility      24 

b.       Beer/Wine Bar and Grill        24 

c.       Construction of a ―good neighbor‖ Fence     24 

d.       Garden Supply         24a 

mailto:slazar@co.humboldt.ca.us


August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 40 

 
 

XVII Summary of Submittal         25 

XVIII Statement of Commitment to transparency & ethical business practices  25

 Exhibits            27 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 41 

 
 

I Introduction    

 

 This submittal is offered by Angelina Wellness Center (AWC), a wholly owned division 

of 215 Humboldt, a California Non-Profit Mutual Benefit Corporation.  215 Humboldt was 

incorporated April 6, 2010 with CA Corporate number 3286714 and whose standing with the 

Secretary of State of the State of CA is Active.  215 Humboldt duly filed a Fictitious Business 

Name Statement with the Humboldt County Clerk on August 30, 2010 as doing business as 

Angelina Wellness Center.  The Fictitious Business Name Statement was published 4 times in 

accordance with the Business Code with proof of publication in our files.   

 215 Humboldt has also registered its self with the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) and has 

received the EIN designation: 27-3857591.  

 The legal purpose of 215 Humboldt is: To facilitate herbal and natural remedies for 

chronically ill patron members who are California residents with HIV, AIDS, chronic pain, 

chronic spasticity, glaucoma, arthritis, cancer migraine, wasting syndrome, and/or such other 

conditions for which licensed medical physicians may recommend such herbal or natural 

remedies pursuant to California Law. 

 

 

II Description of Application and Conditional Use Permit sought  
 

 This is a simply overview of the business operation, as the more detailed description will 

follow in the balance of this document. 

The Applicant, Angelina Wellness Center, hereinafter referred to as AWC, does herewith submit 

these materials to demonstrate its qualifications and with the expectation of being granted a 

Conditional Use Permit (CUP) by the County of Humboldt to operate a Medical Marijuana 

Dispensary (MMD) in the unincorporated area of the county know as Fernbridge.  The facility 

was formally the Angelina Inn, a well known Italian restaurant and bar.  The address is 281 

Fernbridge Rd. Fernbridge, CA   95540, APN 200-042-004.  The property is presently in a 

purchase escrow with Humboldt Land Title # 00137763-001 between the Angelina Group LLC 

(buyers) and Dave W. Morris & Mike L. & Marilyn L. Renner (sellers).  The Angelina Group 

LLC and the Sellers are aware of this application.  The Sellers have already executed the CUP 

application and the Angelina Group LLC will, when appropriate, indicate its approval of the 

intended use as a Medical Marijuana Dispensary (MMD).  While the Angelina Group LLC will 

be the ultimate owners of the building, it will enter into a long-term commercial lease with 215 

Humboldt, DBA Angelina Wellness Center for that portion of the building to be operated as the 

MMD.   

 In general, the AWC proposes to operate a MMD on the subject site.  It is not applying 

for nor will it grow any of its medicines on site.  It proposes to dispense only tested medicine that 

it has been acquired from its member farmers.  100% of the medicine acquired for dispensing 

will be certified as ―Safe Cannabis‖ by SteepHill Laboratories and will be grown using only 

environmentally safe methods.  Member farmers will be approved by AWC and will agree to 

abide by its growing standards and will be subject to testing and inspections.   Third-part 

inspection or certification, as is being proposed by the County will be acceptable, and will be 

incorporated into our operation when the specifics have been determined. 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 42 

 
 

 

 

 

 Other related elements of this application 

 

 Angelina Group LLC, the proposed owner of the parcel is proposing to develop a small 

testing facility in separate room on the parcel.  This room with private entrance is proposed to be 

lease to California’s largest and most respected medical cannabis testing laboratory. A letter of 

intent has been executed and lease terms are being currently being negotiated.  Amplification of 

this element is discussed in section XVI(a). 

Angelina Group LLC, the proposed owner of the parcel is proposing to upgrade and rehabilitate 

the Bar facility of the property.  The Bar facility will be operated as a Beer/Wine Bar and Grill, 

with all necessary County Health and Business licenses and a State liquor license.  While the 

business will be owned by the Angelina Group LLC, the daily operation of the Bar and Grill will 

be contracted to a long-time Humboldt County Italian restaurant company. This is not considered 

to be a change in use, as the Angelina Inn has been historically operated as a Bar and restaurant 

since its construction in 1933.  The Bar and Grill will not be connected physically or in operation 

with the Angelina Wellness Center.  The Bar and Grill will have separate public and employee 

entrances and separate emergency exits, separate kitchen and storage areas and separate male and 

female ADA compliant restrooms. Amplification of this element is discussed in section XVI(b). 

Angelina Group LLC, the proposed owner of the parcel is proposing to construct a 110 ft. ―good-

neighbor‖ fence along the east property line.  The fence will begin at the front of the parcel near 

the State Highway and proceed along the east line in a northerly direction until it meets an 

existing fence that was previously constructed that ran from the rear of the property to about half 

way to the front. The proposed fence is part of an application before the Co Building department 

and is currently in plan checks.  It will be a wooden fence will be a continuation of an existing 

fence and using similar design and construction. The fence will use pressure treated 4x6 posts set 

in concrete on 8 ft centers, with a 2x10 pressure treated base plate and using full dimension 1‖x 

6‖x 6’ dog-eared cedar planks.  While the ground topography is irregular the fence will be built 

at an approximate height of 6’.  There will be no gates in the fence.  Although there is a dense 30 

ft hedge along the east property line, the adjoining property owner to the east is in full agreement 

with the construction of this ―privacy fence‖.  This fence has been shown on the plot/site plans 

that have been submitted herewith.    

 

III 215 Humboldt: Board of Directors, Officers and Advisory Board 
 

 Board of Directors:  

 William F. Thorington Chairman 

 Larry Emry   Vice-chairman 

 Bryan Sturgill   Member 

 Susan Campbell  Member 

 Rocio Emry   Member 

 Jesse Stockham  Member 

 

 Officers: 

 William F. Thorington President / CEO 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 43 

 
 

 Larry Emry   Vice President   

MaryAnn Stockham  Secretary 

 Susan Campbell  Treasurer  

 

  

 Advisory Board: (Associate Members) 

 Dr. Kenneth Miller, MD  Medical Quality Assurance 

 Dr. Rodney Grover, MD  Medical Documentation  

 George Ojala    Veteran Services 

 Dr. Rosalind Skyhawk, D.D.  Patient Spiritual Services  

 Dr. Andrew Fogg, DC   Patient Wellness Services 

 David Cobb, Esq.   Business & Political Advisor 

 

IV Board of Director Résumé’s  
  

William Thorington: 

  

Born: Merced, CA 1948; Moved to Humboldt County 1977  

 Status: U. S. Citizen 

 Criminal Record:  None  

 Age: 62  

 Married with 2 Step Children 

Education:  

 Merced Unified High School: Grad 1966 

 University of California Santa Barbara (UCSB) 1970 - Fisheries Biology 

 CA State University Sacramento (CSUS) 1971 - Biochemistry  

 Post Graduate: (CSUS) – 1972 Biochemistry 

 McGeorge School of Law 1976 

 University of Oklahoma (UO) – 1986 Graduate Business School – Banking/Finance 

Employment: 

 Bank of Loleta: VP and Loan Administrator 1977-1987 

 Six Rivers National Bank: Founder/EVP/Board Member 1988-1998 

 Thorington Consulting Group 1998 – Present:  Owner / Principal Consultant:   

  Superior Court appointed Receiver, Trustee, Financial consulting, mediation  

  and negotiations. 

 Green Living Center 2008 – Present: Owner: Retail business in Fortuna selling   

  Green & Earth-Friendly products and apparel.  

Hobbies / Activities: 

 President, Humboldt Watershed Council 

 Vice President/CFO Harold Robinson Foundation 

 Private Pilot, SCUBA Diving, Kayaking 

   

<> <> <> 

 

Larry Emry: 

 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 44 

 
 

Born:  Nebraska, 1955:  Moved to Humboldt County 1979 

 Status: U. S. Citizen 

 Criminal Record:  None 

 Age:  55 

 Married with 2 adult children 

Education:  

 Newbury Park High: Grad1973 

 College of the Redwoods: Grad 2003 

Employment: 

 West End Props: Owner 1976-1979 Supplied Props to motion picture industry. 

 Logger, Equipment Operator & Salmon Troller: Humboldt County 1979-2000  

 Instructors Aid: College of the Redwoods 2003+ 

 Obtained Real Estate License 

 Country Real Estate: Owner 2006 to Present 

Hobbies/Activities: 

 Fishing, boating & hiking 

 

<> <> <> 

 

Bryan Sturgill  

 

Born:  Johnson City, TN 1971 Moved to Humboldt County 1998 

 Status: U. S. Citizen 

 Criminal Record:  None    

 Age: 39  

 Married with 1 child (8) 

Education: 

 HS: Farragut High School 

Employment: 

 AMPT Apparel; Founder & Operator:  1993 -1996 Manufactured hemp clothing,   

 backpacks and accessories. Also private label manufacturing for several    

 companies 

 AMPT Skateboards; Owner & Operator: 1994 - 1999 A retail skateboard and   

 lifestyle store and wholesale distribution of AMPT Skateboards. 

Satori Movement; Founded and Operated 1999 – 2003 A Humboldt Co. skateboard     wheel and 

hemp clothing company. Satori offers recyclable skateboard wheels as well as a full line of men 

and women’s clothing and accessories made from hemp, organic cotton and bamboo. Sold 

Company 2003 

 Grass Roots; Confounded 2007 a Medical Marijuana Dispensary in Denver, CO.   

 GR is a dispensary plus an indoor and outdoor medical marijuana growing  

 facility.  Sold ownership in 2010 and still consults for Grass Roots. 

Hobbies/Activities: 

 Asst. Chief Bridgeville Fire Rescue 

 Member Eel Valley Technical Rescue Team 

 

<> <> <> 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 45 

 
 

Jesse Stockham: 

 

Born:  San Francisco, CA 1952.  Moved to Humboldt County 1981 

 Status: U. S. Citizen Yes 

 Criminal Record:  None 

 Age: 58 

 Married, 5 Adult Children 

Education 

 HS: Mt. Tam High School, Marin, CA 

Employment:   Union Rep, San Francisco CA  21 Yrs  

Hobbies/Activities:  Fishing 

   <> <> <> 

 

Susan Campbell 

 

Born: Edwards AFB, CA - Moved to Humboldt County 1997 

 Status: U. S. Citizen 

 Criminal Record:  None 

 Age: 54 

 Married: 2 Children in College 

Education: 

 Palos Verdes High School: Graduate 1974 

 University of the Pacific: Liberal Arts 

Employment:  
 Security Pacific National Bank, 1978 Bank Teller, Data Input 

 Westwood Bank of Commerce, 1980 Safe Deposit Teller 

 City National Bank, Safe Deposit, 1984 Bookkeeping and Research 

 Embassy Suites Hotel, 1988-1997 Night Manager – Auditor 

Hobbies/Activities: 

 Nature Photography, Kayaking, Jewelry Making 

 Mother of 2 boys, both HS graduates and in college 

 

<> <> <> 

Rocio Emry 
 

Born: Guadalajara, Jalisco, MEXICO – Immigrated to USA 1984, Humboldt County 1993 

 Status: U. S. Citizen 1998 

 Criminal Record:  None    

 Age 47 

 Married: 2 Children; 1 in College, 1 in Armed Services 

Education: 

 HS Graduate (Guadalajara) 

 College Graduate (Guadalajara) Diploma in Secretarial Services 

Employment: 

 Personal Aid: Dr. of Cardiology, San Diego, CA 1984 – 1989  

 Self Employed: Housekeeping Business San Diego, CA 1990 to 1992 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 46 

 
 

 Teachers Aid:  Ferndale Elementary School   

 Country Real Estate: Co-owner, Office Manager, Notary Public. 2006 - Present   

 Self Employed:  Notary Public, Legal Translation Services, and Interpreter on 

 Immigration cases.  2006 - Present 

Hobbies / Activities: 

 Helping People, Fishing, Cooking and Walking 

<> <> <> 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 47 

 
 

V The Narrative Business Plan - Overview 
 

 Angelina Wellness Center (AWC) proposes to own and operate a legal, fully transparent 

medical cannabis distribution center at the Fernbridge site, which it will lease from the proposed 

property owners (in escrow) Angelina Group LLC.  AWC is a wholly owned division and DBA 

of 215 Humboldt, incorporated April 6, 2010 and in good standing with the State of California as 

a California Non-Profit Mutual Benefit Corporation, strictly organized in accordance with the 

Compassionate Use Act of 1996, California Health and Safety Code Section 11362.5 et seq., SB 

420 and AB 2650.  AWC will make every effort to remain 100% in compliance with any and all 

current or future State laws or County and Local ordinances pertinent to the cultivation, 

transportation and distribution of medical cannabis for the compassionate treatment of patients 

under a licensed physicians care. 

 AWC does not propose to operate a growing operation on the subject site for its medical 

cannabis inventory, but will acquire its inventory from its member-growers.  The Angelina 

Group LLC is planning to lease space on the same parcel for the establishment of a 

comprehensive medical marijuana testing facility. While this business is completely separate, 

owned and operated by the laboratory testing company, it will provide an on-site testing facility 

that will be used by AWC.  

 AWC does plan to offer clone starts to its member that wish to cultivate medical cannabis 

for their personal use.  These starts will be immature, very small plants, provided in 2‖ pots and 

will range from 3‖-9‖ in height.   AWC wishes to reserve the right to operate a cloning operation 

in one of its detached garage structures.  This operation will only be conducted using cuts from a 

―mother‖ plant of a known stain.  The cuts, which are less than 1‖ in size, are cultivated for a few 

days under controlled conditions until they are ready for distribution.  Since these plants are 

never allowed to grow even close to maturity or produce flowers, the vegetative mass is 

negligible; there is no odor to deal with, no harmful chemicals and no irrigation effluent.  Any 

water drained through the plant beds is captured and added to make compost tea.  Lights banks 

are small and will consume about 160 Watts per installation.  Approximately 4 trays of clones 

are illuminated by 1 light installation.  This operation is estimated to use 6-8 light installations, 

or about 1,280 Watts.  While there are some forms of plant food used, the volumes, due to the 

extremely small size of the plant container, is again very small, Typically on site there would be 

no containers larger than gallons, and maybe as many as 4-5 gallons total of all organic solutions.  

1-2 each of compost tea, starter fertilizer and nutrients  The total volume of soils and plant foods 

will be equal to or less than most personal backyard vegetable garden supplies.        

Security will be state of the art, employing digital cameras in all sensitive areas, key card 

controlled doors into all sensitive areas that only allow designated personnel to access and said 

access is programmable over a 24/7 basis.  AWC will employ live security guards with radios to 

greet all that approach the facility, an indoor security guard, simply for presence and an 

overnight external security guard.  AWC will also have a live-in grounds man/caretaker living on 

site in the adjacent apartment. 

 All AWC members will be issued photo ID cards with embedded personal information 

that will be used to verify their identity and membership.  It will be used to access their 

information in our database, where the date, time, and purchases will be recorded. 

 AWC will use its member-growers to produce its medical cannabis inventory.  All 

member-growers will be required to abide by AWC’s environmental standards and safe cannabis 

growing methods.  No diesel fuels will be used in the growing operation, no harmful chemical 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 48 

 
 

herbicides, pesticides, fertilizers or growth enhancing formulas can be used in the gardens.  The 

medical cannabis will be grown using ―organic‖ standards and will be certified as ―safe 

cannabis‖ by Steep Hill Labs.  All medical cannabis inventories will be tested by Steep Hill Labs 

to quantify its potency in THC and CBDs as well as being free of harmful chemicals, pesticides, 

herbicides and free of detectable mold and mildew.  All tested inventory will be bagged by Steep 

Hill Labs into tamper resistant light proof bags and filled with 100% ―food-grade‖ nitrogen.   All 

medical cannabis inventories will be bar coded as to record every detail from the seed to the 

shelf and all amounts dispensed.  Not only will this provide the highest level of inventory control 

but it will allow both the patient and their doctor to know what stains and in what potency were 

dispensed. 

 AWC will offer a wide range of support and services to its members that include but are 

not limited to the following.  Veterans’ services that include transportation or delivery, assistance 

in the following areas: financial, housing, medical or holistic services, counseling and spiritual 

needs.  AWC is planning a veteran’s garden area to be planted cared for and harvested by and for 

the veterans. 

 AWC has already contracted with many practitioners to provide discounted serves, and if 

the member can demonstrate financial need, the services will be provided on a sliding scale.  

These services include at this point massage therapy, chiropractic, wellness and spiritual support 

to name a few.   

 AWC envisions itself as a comprehensive facility for the compassionate treatment of 

medical cannabis patients.  AWC will strictly enforce all medical cannabis regulations and 

ordinances, and will terminate a membership if a member is found to be violating any of the 

terms and conditions of AWC that prohibit consumption or ingestion of the medicine in the 

facility, prohibits loitering on the grounds of the facility, prohibits the diversion of medical 

cannabis, and if their medical recommendation expires.        

 

a. Member Screening and Access Procedure 

 

 AWC will be a member based organization.  Visitors to the facility will be met by a 

security guard, who will ask if they are already members or if they are visitors and to produce 

their valid CA ID and their doctor’s recommendation.  If already a member and after inspecting 

their AWC photo ID and CA ID he will radio the staff person inside the receiving room to expect 

a member, they can then proceed.  If they are not members, he will inspect their CA ID and 

recommendation and if both match and are date valid, he will radio the staff person inside the 

receiving room to expect a visitor, they can then proceed.   

Member/patients will have already been issued an AWC laminated photo ID card having a 

barcode that contains all pertinent information.  Upon entering the receiving room the reception 

person will inspect their AWC photo ID card and their CA ID, if both match then they will swipe 

the AWC photo ID card which will display their personal data.  The receptionist will check to 

see that their Doctors recommendation is still valid.  If it is within 60 days of expiring, they will 

advise the member/patient to be sure to get their recommendation updated, or their membership 

will cease to be valid at the expiration of their recommendation.  The swiping of their card also 

records the date and time of their visit to AWC.  If all is valid, the member/patient is allowed 

through a security controlled door into the dispensing area. 

Visitors will be greeted as they approach the reception area.  They will be told that they must 

become members before they are allowed into the dispensary.  They will be escorted and 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 49 

 
 

introduced to a member specialist.  The member specialist will explain operation of AWC and 

will verbally go over the AWC Member Terms and Conditions, See Exhibit 16.  If they wish to 

abide by the terms and conditions, they are given an AWC Member Registration form, See 

Exhibit 13 and a copy of the Terms and Conditions and asked to read, fill out and sign both.  In 

the meanwhile a copy of their CA ID and their doctor’s recommendation are taken.  If possible 

the doctor’s recommendation will be verified by logging into any number of the online 

verification sites, although the CA MMP (http://www.calmmp.ca.gov) will be the preferred and 

recommended method.  If the doctor does not subscribe to a 24/7 verification plan, then a phone 

call will be made to the doctor’s office.  If absolute verification can be made on line (hard copy 

printed) or verbally, and if the visitor has completed and signed all member application 

documents, then they will be asked to be photographed.  All personal information, doctor’s 

name, expiration date of recommendation will be encrypted into a unique bar code for this 

member.  Their photo will be taken and printed onto the card.  At the completion of the 

registration, the visitor is now a member, with a photo ID and verified medical recommendation.  

The member specialist will now begin the orientation to the AWC starting with a more detailed 

description of the ancillary services that include Veterans Services and delivery, nutritional 

support, chiropractic, massage therapy, wellness and spiritual support, Reiki and Yoga.  The 

member specialist will then escort the new member on a tour of the facility showing them all 

areas and explaining procedures so that they can comfortably access services.  

 

b. Member-Patient Purchases of Medical Cannabis 

 

 Member/patients may sit in the comfortable lobby area and review the list of medicines 

available or visit one of the hosted display cases (one patient at a time will be strictly enforced).  

The member/patient may inspect and smell small samples of the medicines offered that day.  

Once they have made a decision, the host will ask for their AWC photo ID card, swipe it and 

bring up an order form.  He will punch in the member’s selection(s) and quantity and will ask 

them to have a seat in the lobby for a few minutes.  There the member/patient can visit with other 

member/patients, watch HD TV, read magazines or newspapers.  The member/patient’s order is 

automatically transmitted to the dispensing technician.  The dispensing technician works in a 

secure room under ―clean/laboratory‖ conditions where the order is weighted, filled and placed 

in a medicine dispensing container.  The member/patient order is on a computer screen having 

being transmitted there from the host at the display case. The technician, using a hand held 

scanner, will scan the barcode of the medicine just filled which is then populated into the 

member’s records.  The technician records the quantity and an adhesive label is printed and 

affixed to the medicine container.  It is then sealed with tape, so that the top can’t be removed 

without first removing the protective tape.  The member/patient is called over to the cashier’s 

window where they pay for the medicine using cash, check or credit/debit card.   No medicine 

can be consumed, ingested or inhaled in anyway within the dispensary or in the parking lot.  The 

member/patient will then exit the lobby using an exit only door.  

Member/patients will not be allowed to purchase more than 2 ounces of any variety or more than 

4 ounces cumulatively per visit.  Member/patients will not be allowed to purchase more than 1 

time per day and will not be allowed to purchase (cumulatively) more than 8 ounces within any 

30 day period.   

 

c. Member-grower supply of Medical Cannabis: 

http://www.calmmp.ca.gov/


August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 50 

 
 

 

 Through its contracts and written agreements, AWC has established a network of over 30 

growers (producers) at the present time.  There are more that have expressed interest in joining 

AWC, however producers will be added as they are certified (to be discussed later) and can be 

matched with demand.     

 AWC will admit producers to its collective who have agreed to abide by AWC’s 

guidelines for environmentally safe growing practices producing healthy and contamination free 

medical cannabis and who have been inspected and certified by a AWC representative.  

 

 AWC will strictly adhere to Humboldt County Code § Title V, Chapter 581.1-5 and 

guidelines issued by the county district attorney Feb 14, 2003 or any new County regulation or 

ordinances that may be introduced. 

  

AWC will use its network of member-growers to produce medical cannabis for specific patients, 

caregivers from its own collective organization.  Each member-grower will receive 

documentation that depicts the verified Patient ID number for which they are growing.  Only 1 

original set of documentation per patient or caregiver will be provided to a member-grower and 

will contain the embossed corporate seal to signify it is the one and only original.  Each member-

grower will be allowed to grow for up to 4 member/patients (subject to county planning 

approval, as to not trigger an additional CUP for that farm).  Member-growers will grow by strict 

adherence to county guidelines as documented in the HC DA’s Guidelines:  OUTDOOR 

CULTIVATION: Patients or their caregivers cultivating marijuana in an area within one 

hundred (100) square feet cumulatively measured by the vegetative canopy of the plants and who 

have ninety-nine (99) plants or less, including starts, shall be deemed within the District 

Attorney's prosecution guidelines and will not be prosecuted. This limit applies to marijuana 

grown in a greenhouse, provided it is without the benefit of artificial light sources of any kind.  

Whenever possible AWC will adhere to stricter limits as to not invite inadvertent violations.  

 

 AWC has a zero-tolerance for any member-grower that is not in full compliance with all 

State and Humboldt County guidelines, regulations and ordinances.  AWC, in its member-

grower policy reserves the right to withdraw authority to grow and may rescind the current 

authority to grow if a member-grower is found to be in violation of any State or Humboldt 

County guidelines, regulations and ordinances.  This policy will be adhered to even if all other 

aspects of the cultivation operation are legal and within guidelines.    

 

 All products contracted for shall be handled in accordance with AWC’s quality control 

guidelines, will be packaged and bar-coded with the member-growers root Bar-Code 

Identification (BCI) and will be subject to lab testing for purity, cannabinoid complexity and 

potency, and will be tested for the absence of  mold, mildews, harmful chemicals, pesticides and 

herbicides.  All testing data results will be added to the BCI for that production as will all sales 

of that product. 

  

 At the present time, all drying, manicuring, processing and initial packaging will take 

place on the member-growers facility.  AWC will take possession of finished goods at its 

Fernbridge facility, where it will be inspected, tested and bagged in 1 lb tamper resistant bags 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 51 

 
 

and filled with ―food-grade‖ nitrogen.  At the point AWC will bar-code and record all pertinent 

data related to each 1 lb bag.  While some of the tests can occur nearly instantly at its Fernbridge 

facility, at this point the mold, mildew, pest and herbicide testing can only take place in the 

Oakland facility of SteepHill Laboratories.  The results will be electronically transmitted in 5-7 

days.   Unique labels for each lot tested will be delivered by SteepHill that show the results.  

These labels will be affixed to the corresponding bag by AWC.  At this point the bags are 

complete, tested, labeled and packaged in ―food-grade‖ nitrogen, thus preserving the inventory 

for up to 1 year from degradation, oxidation, or contamination by any external source.  The bags 

also have an O2 indicator that will indicate the presence of any oxygen than may leak in if the 

bag is punctured or tampered with.  All inventory computer records will not only the test results, 

but the grower’s name and farm location, how grown, and the genetic and strain data.  

 

 

VI AWC Professional Liability and Casualty Loss Insurance and 

Indemnification 
 

 AWC’s Insurance Agent is Andrea Eldridge of Harbers Insurance Agency, 210 12
th

 

Street Fortuna, CA  95540 Phone: 707-725-3316.  Our agent has researched and interviewed 

companies willing to insure a medical cannabis dispensing company.  AWC has submitted both 

applications and has been offered coverage for both physical/personal property including 

inventory and Professional Pharmaceutical Liability coverage.  AWC has the casualty loss 

insurance in force, since it now has an insurable risk and is holding the Professional 

Pharmaceutical Liability coverage off until the CUP is approved and we begin Pharmaceutical 

dispensing practices.  At that time AWC will be prepared to offer the County any reasonable 

indemnification and hold harmless endorsement that the county may require.  The insurance 

company will be Markel Insurance Company or any of its family of insurance companies, 

including but not limited to Deerfield Ins.; Essex Ins.; Evanston Ins.; Markel American Ins.; and 

Markel Ins.  Markel Insurance Company is rated by:    

 A.M. Best Company Financial Strength "A Excellent" in Category XIII   
 Fitch Insurer Financial Strength Rating "A (Strong)"  
 Is a Fortune 1000 Company 

Markel Insurance Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Markel Corporation, a Virginia-

based international specialty lines insurance company. Markel Insurance Company is admitted 

and licensed to underwrite property & casualty, accident & health, and equine insurance 

throughout the U.S.A.  See Exhibit 1, Insurance Application. 

 

VII Description of Facility and Location 

 
 AWC proposes its primary site to be located in the area known as Fernbridge; specifically 

281 Fernbridge Dr. Fernbridge CA  95540; APN 200-042-004-000.  The site was formally 

known as the Angelina Inn, as famous restaurant and bar operating since 1933 and closed in 

2005.  The present owners purchased it to covert the building into professional offices and to 

construct a card-lock refueling station on the adjacent land.  These plans did not materialize and 

http://money.cnn.com/magazines/fortune/fortune500/2009/full_list/901_1000.html


August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 52 

 
 

the building sat vacant for the last 5 years.  Unfortunately the deferred maintenance and lack of 

security attracted the homeless, transients and drug users.  The applicants submitted an offer to 

lease and purchase the land and building in February and closed the agreement on March 15, 

2011.  While the applicants have full control of the property subject to a lease, a purchase escrow 

has been opened with Humboldt Land Title, escrow # 00137763-001-SW.   

 The location is approximately 3 miles north of Fortuna on Fernbridge Drive (old US 101) 

and is accessed by two off ramps.  The south access is about 1.5 mile from the facility and the 

north access is about ¼ mile from the facility.  The settlement of Fernbridge at the intersection of 

Hwy 211 to Ferndale is about ½ mile south of the facility.  There are just a few commercial 

businesses in the area, primarily a Renner Card-lock refueling station, Humboldt Creamery, 

Barnes Tractor, an antique store and the Fernbridge Market and Café (presently closed).  There 

are 4 residences within a 500 ft radius.  There are no schools or places where children frequent 

within 1,000 ft of the facility. Across Fernbridge Dr. to the south and north are agricultural 

fields. 

 About 60% of the property is improved with asphalt surface and ~ 7,000 [/] of 

improvements.  The main building containing the former restaurant, kitchen, bar and dance hall 

is about 5,000 [/].  There is a separate 1 bedroom dwelling and 6 attached garages that are about 

2,000 [/].  The remaining acreage is a level field containing the former and proposed site of the 

septic leech field.  This is also the area (excluding the leech field) where the proposed Fernbridge 

Garden Supply will be established on a gravel base.  The apartment will be renovated and will be 

occupied by an on-site groundsman/caretaker.   The garages do not have a use at the moment 

except for storage and the possible use of one garage to support the cloning operation. 

 The main building has been gutted of its former kitchen, using PG & E to safely cap 

terminate and cap off all gas pipes. The stoves, ranges and ovens had already been removed, so 

the unusable grease traps, grease laden hoods and fans were removed and openings closed in.   

The walk-in freezers and refrigerators have been determined to be in good working order, so they 

remain in situ.   

The dining area will be used as the dispensary area and will be slightly modified per the plans 

already submitted to the building department to provide a specific entrance, routing visitors into 

a reception area where they can be verified as members or where they can be interviewed and 

signed up as members, before they are allowed into the dispensary.  Once in the dispensary area 

they will receive their medication from a dispensing technician in a secure room and will pay the 

cashier and exit by a specific exit door.  This configuration allows for an efficient flow of foot 

traffic and the non-mixing of visitors and member-patients.  There will be no public access into 

the former bar/dance room area.  The only connecting door will be a locked door controlled by 

key cards issued only to management personnel.   

The main dispensing area will be modified to include two ADA compliant restrooms per plans 

already submitted to the building department.   

The application and engineered plans for the reconstruction of the sewage disposal system has 

already been submitted to the Department of environmental health and the Permit has been 

issues.  The plans are out for bid and construction of the leach field should begin within 30 days.   

Potable water is furnished to the apartment, and all buildings and restrooms via a well located at 

the northeast corner of the parcel, several hundred feet from the proposed leach field.  Water 

filtration is provided by three 5 ft cylinders (a Green Sand System).  The well was tested at is 

source and again from a drinking water faucets in the main building.  The water was tested in 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 53 

 
 

April 2011 by North Coast Laboratories and was passed as potable, documentation available 

upon request. 

The Bar area is planned to be cleaned and used as is, except for any modification as may be 

required by the county when an application is submitted.  The two restrooms that service the bar 

area will be modified to be ADA compliant, per plans already submitted to the building 

department.   

The apartment was inhabited upon our possession of the property.  The tenant was planning to 

move and vacated the property about April 15
th

.  The Angelina Group, LLC will take this 

opportunity to renovate the apartment with carpets, drapes, and fresh paint.  No modifications are 

planned for the apartment.    

The current property owners have signed off with their approval of the planned modification.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      

 

VIII Description of estimated size of operation: 
 

 AWC is not currently in business, although all of the legal business structures are in 

place.  AWC does have an active bank account and is operating in a ―start-up‖ capacity at this 

time.  It has formed and elected its Board of Directors, Officers and Advisory Board.  The 

Advisory Board will continue to evolve.  The initial 6 employees of the company will be its 

officers and directors plus approximately 4 additional staff members that will be added as 

needed.  As AWC is not proposing an ―in-door‖ growing operation, its business will consist of 

dispensing of medical cannabis to its members and if approved, it will operate the adjacent 

garden supply center and the member-only bar and grill.  The membership of the collective at 

this time numbers about 50, however, AWC has just begun its outreach and marketing and will 

be accepting applications for membership.   We anticipate accepting member-patient applications 

until we have reached 300, at which point we will perform a self audit.  The self-audit and will 

examine all aspects of the business, facility layout, member-patient care and service, receiving, 

testing and inventory control of medical cannabis, facility security, cash and inventory controls, 

personnel, dispensary operations, quality control, customer service, extended patient care and 

wellness outreach and the general flow of all aspects of the business.  We will modify, adjust and 

refine any procedure or activity before accepting new members and continue to grow.   

 

IX Description of Services:  
 

 AWC will be open to its members Monday – Friday from 10:00 am to 4:00 pm.  These 

days and hours are believed to be sufficient to meet patient demand, however, AWC may elect to 

extend its hours or days should patient needs indicate longer hours are needed.  The County will 

be advised of any change to the projected initial hours in the formal CUP application or at a later 

when the need arises.  AWC staff will generally work Monday – Friday 9 am to 5 pm.  Board 

members and Officers while working generally the same hours will also work as much or as 

often as the need arises. 

 

 AWC will offer member-patient access to acquire medicines during the hours shown 

above.  Services will include dispensing medicine, counseling, explanation and arrangements for 

ancillary services that include but are not limited to:  Veterans services, Wellness services, 

Spiritual services, Massage and Chiropractic services, and transportation services.  AWC will 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 54 

 
 

also provide a door to door delivery service for pre-qualified home-bound and non-ambulatory 

members. These services will be provided either free or on a sliding scale depending on the 

members need.   

 

A potential member’s (visitors) first visit 

 

 After being greeted by a security officer outside the facility, who has verified their CA ID 

and seen a physician’s recommendation or a 215 Card, the new approval is met by a staff 

specialist and escorted into the reception room.  Upon receipt of the signed application for 

membership and signed Terms and Conditions, staff will verify the MMP 215 card or physicians 

recommendation, verify that the attending physician holds a valid CA medical license, enter all 

pertinent information into the AWC database and assign the member a unique AWC member 

number.  AWC will be using a credit card style Membership Cards with all salient information 

encoded on the magnetic-stripe or bar code.  This card will enhance security as it will not be 

subject to counterfeiting, it will streamline the patient registration and wait time, it will automate 

the record keeping of all visits, purchases, recording the type and amounts dispenses, both per 

visit and the a cumulative total.  A simple swipe of the card at reception will start the patient 

visit.   

 

    An existing member-patient or caregiver 

 

 Patients/caregiver members will enter the reception area after being greeted by a security 

officer outside who has verified their CA identity AWC photo ID card.  They will be greeted by 

a receptionist who will again verify their CA ID and will swipe their AWC photo ID card.  The 

receptionist will check the person’s identification against our database of members and if they 

are a member in good standing with valid documents they will be electronically (buzzed) through 

to the dispensing room.  Only the member patient/caregiver and any dependent child in their care 

can enter the dispensing room.  Other family members or friends of the member/caregiver will be 

asked to wait outside or in the reception room.  The connecting door between the reception and 

dispensing room shall remain electronically locked at all times.  Passage can only occur by an 

authorized employee swiping their ID card or the receptionist pressing the button to 

electronically open the door.  Once in the dispensing room the patient/caregiver will give their 

members pass to a dispensing technician.  Members will be allowed to examine the various 

strains or types of medication and the analysis of their potency and content.  They will choose 

their medication type and quantity.  The technician will swipe their AWC photo ID into the 

computer and pull up their file.  The technician will then enter the type and quantity into the data 

base.  The computer records the strain and amount to be dispensed and adds it to the cumulative 

totals.  The order is transmitted to the dispensing technician in a secure room.  The appropriate 

quantity usually measured in grams or in 1/8
th

 of ounces is accurately weighed on a certified 

gram scale and placed into a sterile medicine vile.  The technician completes the transaction on 

the computer by indicating that the order has been filled and the printer expels a sticky label 

containing the members name, phone number, MMP ID #, Date, the stain, the potency and the 

weight.  The label also shows all pertinent information concerning AWC.  The member signs an 

electronic signature scanner indication receipt of the medicine, type, quantity and potency.  The 

member/caregiver moves to the cashier who completes the purchase transaction.   The cashier 

asks the member/caregiver if they are in need of any other serves offered by AWC and offers 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 55 

 
 

them a brochure describing the many ancillary services offered to members.  If interested the 

cashier, using the intercom, calls one of the member services specialist who will explain, council 

and make arrangements if necessary to further assist the member/caregiver.  When complete the 

member leaves by an exit door to the outside.  This door remains locked to the outside at all 

times, but can be opened from the inside by turning the door knob or from the outside with an 

authorized employees ID swipe card.    

 

X Description of Staff:  

 
 Using the initial self-audit number of 300 members, it is assumed that the average patient 

will visit AWC one-time per week.  This would indicate that AWC would see approximately 75 

patients a week or about 15 per day, which is about 3 per hour, given a 5 hr work day.  The 

average say for a patient visit is about 30 minutes. 

 A typical shift on any weekday would consist of: 

 

1. Security Guard outside the building to greet all guests and members. 

1. Receptionist: To greet the patient, verify documentation and valid membership. 

1. Dispensing Technician:  To determine the patients need, show them their choices  and 

dispense the proper medicine. 
1. Cashier: To complete the transaction, complete the data input to the database, collect the  proper 

payment and offer ancillary services. 

1. Relief Specialist who is trained as a Receptionist, Dispensing Technician and Cashier. 

1. Security Person: Equipped with a radio that will meander in the public/dispensing areas. 

1. Bookkeeper, Secretary, Office manager:  This will be one of the Senior Staff or managing 

 members, and will generally be responsible for the affairs of the business office. 

1. Executive Director or his second.  At all time the Executive Director or his appointed assistant 

will be on site at all times the facility is open and operating.  This is the senior person and has full 

responsibility. 

 

XI Description of Security Systems: 

 
AWC will install a complete security system as designed by a licensed and bonded security 

company, such as Advanced Security Systems.  We have had exhaustive interviews with them 

and feel confident that a Sielox Access Control System, complete with external lighting, Bosch 

video surveillance backed up by a Bosch 16 channel DRV system, recording on four  4 TB hard 

drives, supported by high intensity lights, audio siren and silent alarms, (keyless) magnetic-strip 

programmable photo ID card door access, programmable to the specific employee including 

hours of permitted access, exterior video surveillance of primary entry points (such as the 

shipping door).  The entire system is monitored full time and would be backed up with a 

TelGuard, AiPhone communication system to back up failed or tampered phone lines.   All 

security designated interior and exterior doors would be keyless and controlled by card access.  

Employees will be issued a programmable photo ID card that is controlled by the internal 

security system that will be programmed to only allow an employee access for specific areas, 

through certain doors at certain times.  This will allow controlled access into secure areas to only 

authorized personnel.  All windows, roof access and other crawl spaces will be protected as well.  

All rooms within the complex will be protected by multi-angle digital-video backed up by 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 56 

 
 

DVR’s recording 24/7.  This not only provides security when the facility is closed, but all day 

and in all rooms, including the reception area, the members dispensary, the weighing and 

cashiers area, all back rooms including the vault.  The vault area, where the majority of the 

inventory is stored and where all inventory is stored at night will be programmed as a dual 

control room.  It will require two authorized personnel to swipe their cards to gain access.  

Closed circuit cameras will be in operation in the vault 24/7.   The entire system will be remotely 

monitored 24/7 with instructions to call the appropriate municipal responder first, then to call the 

key personnel of AWC.  Systems similar, if not the same, are currently being used by several 

banks and Credit Unions in Eureka, as well as the County of Humboldt and PG & E’s production 

facility at King Salmon to name a few.   

 

XII Description of Chemicals used and stored on site 

 

 Since AWC is not applying for a CUP that would allow an indoor growing operation, 

thus none of the typical growth inducing chemicals, fertilizers, pest and herbicides using organic 

chemicals like Nitrogen, Phosphorus/Phosphates or Potassium,  

et. al., will be used or stored on site.  AWC will have a modest supply of normal janitorial 

cleaning and disinfection supplies, generally available from common janitorial supply 

companies.   

 AWC will be using a ―no-chemical‖, ―no-trap‖ pest protection system, utilizing ultra-

sonic sound frequencies to keep work and storage area free of pests, mice, rats, bats or any other 

possible rodent infestation.   

 AWC will use the services of pest-control Company to keep its interior and perimeter 

treated to prevent infestation of insects, bugs, cockroaches, crickets, etc. 

 AWC is planning on testing medical cannabis on site, as such, and upon the issuance of 

the appropriate permit, it will be using and storing one bottle of ―Food-Grade‖ Nitrogen supplied 

by Eureka Oxygen.  This gas is used in the final packaging medical cannabis after it has been 

tested and bagged.   Packaging medical cannabis in pure nitrogen is believed to preserve the 

quality, potency, color, aroma, texture and taste of the product for up to one year, and retarding 

any degradation or oxidation.  While storage in a normal oxygen rich air, will allow the product 

to discolor, become dry and brittle and will lose potency, aroma and taste. Oxygen rich air also 

fosters the growth of microscopic amounts mold and mildew that may be present in the product, 

while Nitrogen retards such growth.  As such AWC will have a cylindrical tank of Nitrogen, 

strapped to the wall on site.   

 

XIII Description of effluent discharge and Odor control  
 

 AWC does not propose to discharge any reportable effluent other than normal sewage 

and waste water.  All green waste, recyclable plastics and other recyclables material will be 

transported to the transfer station in Fortuna for normal disposal.   

 AWC is not planning or applying for an indoor growing operation, as such, it does not 

believe there is a need for an odor control system.  The storage of medical cannabis on site will 

be in sealed, tamper resistant air tight bags, filled with 100% ―Food-Grade‖ Nitrogen.  There will 

be no odor in the vault area. 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 57 

 
 

 The leased site for the testing facility will utilize a self contained laminar-flow ventilation 

hood that recycles its air after passing through a HEPA filter.  No external ventilation is planned.  

An example of the ventilation hood is included in the Exhibit 8.  

 

XIV  Operations Manual, including: 

  
a. Staff Screening and Background checks 

 
AWC is committed to maintaining the highest standards in the composition of its management 

team and hired staff.  All members of the Board, Officers and hired staff complete a Personnel 

Questionnaire See Exhibit 10 will be submitted to an accredited background investigative 

company, such as IntelliCorp, http://www.intellicorp.net.  An investigation of this company 

indicates that it is a professional employer screening and investigative firm.   IntelliCorp 

accredited by the NAPBS. The NAPBS Background Screeners Credentialing Council (BSCC) 

has affirmed that IntelliCorp successfully proved compliance with the Background Screening 

Agency Accreditation Program (BSAAP) and is formally recognized as BSCC Accredited.   

 The standard screening and background check will: 

1. Access all public Criminal records in all 50 states; 

2. All Civil records in all 50 states; 

3. It will validate the essential information for the applicants SSN; 

4. It can if directed, perform direct verification of past employment;  

5. It will confirm education levels and performance; and  

6. It will obtain full motor vehicle reports.   

Sample Report: See Exhibit 11 

 

b. Description of Inventory Control System (ICS) and Tracking 

 

 AWC will utilize an Inventory Control System (ICS) of its own design that uses the latest 

technology such as barcode generators, barcode scanners, integrated database access for each 

barcode and signature capture devices.  AWC has contracted with Barcode, Inc. a leading 

provider of digital, wireless, laser based barcode equipment.  The actual barcode procedures are 

described in detail below in section XV (a)(1-5).  AWC will use a barcode generator to produce 

stick-on barcode labels.  Each member-producer will be assigned a range (approximately 5000 

unique root numbers) of barcodes.  All products anticipated to be acquired by AWC will be 

given a barcode tag.  Immediately a scanner will be used to pull up the database associated with 

that number.  Other essential information will be loaded into the database over the life of that 

product, such as date it was delivered to AWC, its condition, the exact weight and the strain or 

variety.  From that supply, test quantities will be removed, labeled with the same barcode and set 

to our labs for testing. 3-5 days later the test results will be added to the database, and the 

shipment will be either accepted or rejected.  In the secure area, about 3 ounces of the shipment 

will be placed into clear, air-tight specimen jar and a barcode label will be affixed to the jar 

identifying its source, variety, test results (potency), date it entered AWC’s inventory.  A patient-

member having already registered will choose the variety they want to purchase.  The specimen 

jar is scanned entering that variety into that patient’s history.  The Pharmacy Technician weighs 

out the appropriate variety and places in a sterile medicine vile while the label printer prints out a 

http://www.intellicorp.net/


August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 58 

 
 

stick-on label that identifies the date, member’s name, phone #, the quantity and variety of the 

product, its potency and all of AWC’s germane information.  The information contained on the 

vile will aid the member to know what they have acquired and its potency.  This information will 

also  aid law enforcement to determine if the amount in the vile is approximately correct, when 

and where it came from and the ability to contact AWC to validate the medicine dispensed.  In 

the background, the AWC ICS will automatically subtract the amount dispensed from the total 

inventory of that strain.  At the same time it adds the amount dispensed to the member records 

for that day and to the cumulative dispensed to that customer.   At any given moment, AWC, 

using a wireless scanner can scan the bar code of a stain, whether it be on the specimen jar, a 

test-sample bag, or the bulk inventory supply in the vault room, and the ICS will report where 

every gram is.  For example, most inventories will be controlled in units of 1 lb or less and all 

locations for that variety will have the same barcode.  The following is an example of what an up 

to date history would look like for a particular variety. 

 
Results for Barcode: 123456789101101 

MP-#25698  (refers to the member producer that cultivated and delivered this inventory to AWC) 

Date ICS began 12/6/2010            Inventory On Hand (Grams) 

       VAULT  DISPENSARY CUME 

Initial Quantity: 1 lb. 3 ounces Grms 456 grms 456  -0-  456 

12/6/2010 Removed 5 grams / Testing Lab 451  -0-  451 

12/11/10  Removed 3 ounces / 84 grms  367   84  451 

12/12/10: 11:05 Removed 7 grms   ID # 0023 367  77  444  

12/13/10: 13:22 Removed 14 grms ID # 0045 367  63  430 
 

 This report, available to a staff member by accessing the computer and entering the 

barcode number or by scanning any barcode, will immediately show the full list of inventory 

transactions for that supply.  A spot check of inventory on hand can be quickly audited for 

accuracy and location.   While a similar scan of the members ID will show all transaction 

pertinent to them, this report will show all member IDs to which some inventory has been 

dispensed. 

 Initially AWC will probably not have an inventory of consumable or edibles, although it 

plans to contract with producers and will eventually like to offer a full line of edibles, primary 

hard candy that has been tested and determined safe with known potency.  This will lead to the 

ability to meter or begin to dose.  Our Medical Advisors are working on this expansion now.  

AWC will only offer edibles when we can certify their production under a Health Department 

approved commercial kitchen and with verifiable and proven doses.   Our testing lab, Steep Hill, 

is fully capable of testing the content and concentration of edibles now.  To date, the potency of 

edibles has been a big variable.  This will change with our process.  Edibles will be made, tested 

and then labeled for potency and an approximate dose.  Our model will approach the issue from 

the production side; that is to test the potency of the primary ingredient.  Once known, the 

primary ingredient can be metered into each batch in varying amounts, thereby controlling the 

dosing, so the product can be displayed with the dose; for example, 100mg/ml; or 150mg/ml; or 

200mg/ml and so on.  Different edibles (hard candy) can be made in different colors for easy 

recognition.   When this has been developed, our business plan will be updated. 

 

c. Description of screening, registration and validation of qualified patients.  

 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 59 

 
 

 AWC registration personnel will be versed in all aspects of new member registration, 

Patient Member Terms and Conditions, Registration Forms, and documents necessary to 

complete the registration.  AWC registration personnel will follow the New Member 

Registration Checklist, See Exhibit 12  

 

Patient Criteria 

 

• The patient should have a verifiable written recommendation for medical cannabis 

use from a California physician who is currently licensed to practice medicine in 

the state of CA. Oral or unverifiable recommendations are suspect and offer limited protection to 

the patient and dispensary. 

 

• The patient must be able to demonstrate that he or she is a resident of the state of 

California. Otherwise, he or she is not a legal patient under state law. AWC will require a 

valid California driver’s license or DMV ID card.  Other forms simply do not establish CA 

residency, even utility bills or other items that indicate a CA address. Passports do not establish 

California residency. 

 

• The patient or caregiver should explicitly consent to affiliation (membership) in AWC by 

completing and executing either the AWC Membership Registration Form – Patient, or the AWC 

Membership Registration Form - Caregiver.  See Exhibits 13 - 14.  Caregivers should be present 

with the Patient Member, who shall complete and execute the Designation of Primary Caregiver. 

See Exhibit 15 
 

• The patient should agree to obey the Member Terms & Conditions of the dispensary to 

maintain membership. These rules are written and will be handed to the applicant at registration.  

See Exhibit 16  

 

• The patient should only be a member as long as he or she has an unexpired recommendation 

and maintains residency in California. Membership should renew annually or whenever the 

member’s doctor letter renews. 

 

 Once all the above forms have been reviewed and properly executed the receptionist will 

photo the new member and issue the photo ID card.  The final step is the new-member 

orientation session.  The receptionist will call the Member Services Specialist who will explain 

the rules and procedure for visiting the facility and give them a limited tour.  The Specialist will 

also explain AWC’s Health Information Privacy Statement, See Exhibit 17. The Specialist will 

also provide the member with various brochures and explain the many support and ancillary 

services included but not limited to: Veterans services, Wellness services, Spiritual services, 

transportation, massage therapy and Chiropractic services, to name a few.  

 AWC will be issuing member Photo ID cards with a programmable magnetic-strip.  This 

card when swiped will identify the member and display all pertinent information and will track 

the expiration date of membership, based on the expiration of the physician recommendation.  

Upon arrival to the AWC facility, the member will furnish their ID card to the receptionist, who 

after comparing the photo to the member will swipe the card.  If the member is still in good 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 60 

 
 

standing, the card will be returned; otherwise the card will be retained by the receptionist.  The 

receptionist will then escort the member into the dispensing room. 

 

d. Description of qualified patient acquisition records and retention procedures.   

 

 AWC is very sensitive to patient member confidentiality.  All records are recorded by the 

member’s number.  Only the senior management will have access to the cross reference files to 

associate member numbers and name.  AWC will employ a professional medical software 

system designed by GreenLife Medical Systems LLC.  GreenLife is the leading provider of 

software solutions for the medical cannabis industry. Founded by practicing clinicians and 

software specialists, the company’s revolutionary web based record solutions are in use by 

medical professionals across California, Nevada, Michigan, Colorado, Arizona, Washington, 

Oregon 

 GreenLife develops revolutionary web based electronic medical record storage systems 

that leverage the latest breakthroughs in information technology and "cloud computing", 

providing unparalleled advantages to medical professionals and clinicians. Our systems are 

designed to produce a standardized defensible medical record that significantly reduces the 

amount of paperwork and storage for your office and are certified to be 100% HIPAA compliant;  

As such all patient records are stored electronically and accessible from anywhere.  There will be 

a few hard copy files such as copies of the member’s Physician Recommendation, ID, MMP 215 

card and the member’s application package as described in XIV(c).  These documents will be 

electronically scanned and added to the patient’s electronic records.  The original hardcopy will 

filed in a fire-safe locked document file which will is kept in the vault room of the facility. 

 

e. Description of tracking on-site cultivation (clones) and processing & off-site 

receipts of plants, and product. 

 

  On-site Cultivation: 

 

At this time AWC is not proposing to conduct an onsite cultivation of medical Marijuana plants 

for the production of flowers (medicine).  AWC will be operation a seasonal cloning operation 

for it member-patients that want to grow their own medicine in their homes, pursuant to home 

lever cultivation guidelines.  AWC can provide healthy starts of known strains high in CBDs.   

AWC will have at its disposal a few ―Mother Plants‖ from which to take cuts or starts for the 

cloning process. Starts are grown in trays of about 50 starts under 160 Watt light bank. The cycle 

from cutting to a sturdy young plant of about 6‖-9‖ takes a couple of weeks.  The trays, all being 

of the same strain/mother plant will be bar-coded as previously described.  All the same 

information will be recorded as it is for a farm grown plant.  Once the cycle is complete and the 

plants are offered for sale, the sale will be recorded much the same as if it were a small quantity 

of medicine.  Due to the small size of this operation there will be negligible amounts of soils and 

fertilizers, less than 4-5 gallons.  There will be no waste water to be disposed of.  And since the 

clones never produce any amount of foliage and are not grown to state of flowering, there is no 

odor issue to mitigate.   

 

Off-site Cultivation: 

 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 61 

 
 

 AWC will receive its entire inventory of flowers (medicine) from off-site sources.  The 

procedure for receiving under secured dual control is described in XV(a)(1-5) of this application.  

AWC is using a barcode system for identification and tracking plants from the cultivation site to 

the warehouse and until completely dispensed.  Receiving of inventory will only be done at a 

pre-arranged time, with a specific security guard on site and two AWC employees.  Inventory 

will be labeled with a barcode that is unique to the member producer, and can immediately be 

scanned to bring up the database and AWC Product Receipt.  This receipt will also be labeled 

with the same barcode so that the database, the hardcopy receipt and the physical inventory and 

all subsequent subdivisions of the initial supply will have the same barcode number, allowing 

tracking at any time and at all stages of the operation, until all of the supply has been dispensed.   

At all times, whether in the secure receiving room, the re-packaging area or in the vault, dual 

control procedures will be in effect, as described above in section XIV(b).  At any time, from any 

place inside AWC’s facility, using a handheld scanner, an authorized employee can access all 

information, all dates and quantities of arrival, shipping or dispensing, where stored, testing 

results and more by simply scanning the barcode on any source of inventory.  

 

XV Description of AWC’s Cannabis Safety Program: 

 
 a. Process for documenting “chain of custody” 
 AWC will receive its entire inventory from its Member Providers (MP).  Each member-

provider is a member of AWC and will have a database number and a sequence of unique 

Barcodes.  See Exhibit 18 Barcode-stick on labels will be printed in 4 parts and applied as 

follows and described in more detail later in this section.  The first label will be applied to the 

original patient documentation, 2
nd

 to the actual bag of product, the 3
rd

 to be applied to the 

Product Receipt and the 4
th

 on the 3 gram test sample bag.  Patients who are not at liberty, or 

simply do not want to have a home grow will register with AWC as a member and will authorize 

AWC to grow MC for them, and dispense it to them as needed.  At the onset, AWC will supply 

the MP with 1 set of original patient documents containing the embossed seal of AWC, thereby 

authorizing them to grow the maximum allowable garden as defined by Humboldt County, HC 

Sheriff’s Department, HC District Attorney, or the state of CA.   This authorization will be 

recorded on the books of AWC, so that at any point, AWC will be able to determine the number 

of authorized grows, for whom the cultivation is authorized, the dates the cultivation began, the 

estimated date of maturity, the approximate volume to expect, the strain being cultivated.   

 At maturity, the MP will notify AWC of its intention to deliver product.  AWC will 

attempt to inspect the crop prior to harvesting and processing.  When the crop has been harvested 

the MP shall keep the associated documentation with the crop as it is moved to the processing, 

trimming and curing stage.  The MP will contact AWC advising that a shipment is ready for 

transport or pickup.  If AWC elects to pick up the shipment, it will take two employees, bar-code 

labels unique for that MP and a portable scale.  If the MP delivers the crop, two AWC employees 

and one security guard will be on site to receive, barcode and weight the product.  All products 

should be delivered in sealable bags of 3 mil or heaver and packaged in similar sized units, not to 

exceed 1 pound.  Any transport by either AWC employees or the MP must be sure to have all the 

associated patient documentation that authorized the quantity of product being transported.   

(1) AWC employees take possession of the patient documentation and apply the first of the 

bar code sticker to the original patient documentation.  If the MP can’t supply the original 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 62 

 
 

documentation containing the embossed AWC seal the shipment can’t be received and will 

become the sole responsibility of the MP.  AWC will ONLY receive product for which it 

authorized by issuance of original patient documentation.  AWC employees will visually 

inspect the product for wholeness, color, scent and general appearance, noting any abnormalities 

and recording them on the AWC Product Receipt, such as product is crushed, or excessively 

dry or wet.  Although testing will be done, if there are any visible signs or scents of mold or 

mildew, it should be recorded.   

(2) Next the AWC employees will weigh the first bag, applying 2nd barcode stickers to it, 

and then will scan the sticker which will pull up a data entry form unique to that MP and that 

barcode.  On the computer screen the AWC employee will record the weight and the comments 

mentioned above.  If there are 2 or more bags of product per set of patient documentation, then a 

second series of barcode labels will be used, applying the 1
st
 label as above to the original patient 

documentation, indication that at least 2 bags of product resulted from that particular cultivation.  

The 2
nd

 label of the 2
nd

 series will be applied to the 2
nd

 bag as it is weighed  

(3) The AWC employees will remove from each bag a testing sample approximately 3 grams 

but no more than 5 grams, using the gram scale to be as close as possible and will place the 

sample product in a test bag, sealing it immediately and applying the 3
rd

 of the Barcodes.  Steps 

1-3 will be repeated for each bag belonging to a specific patient cultivation.  When all products 

has been weighed and test samples removed then proceed to step 4. 

(4) When the on-line Product Receipt has been completed for each bag and all data fields 

have been populated, the form will be printed, reviewed by the MP and both AWC employees.  

When all are in agreement that it is accurate, all three will sign and the 4
th

 barcode sticker will be 

applied.  The MP will be allowed to wash up and then depart the warehouse area.   

(5) With both employees still present plus the security guard and after the MP has left and 

the receiving door has been secured, the product bags will be moved to the secure room.   Each 

bag will be placed and sealed in a second, dual control bag.  After closing the self adhesive top 

per bag instructs, both employees will sign the dual control boxes and remove the receipt.  The 

receipt, containing like serial numbers to the bag, has an adhesive strip, remove it and apply the 

receipt strip to the back side of the Product Receipt.  The product can be stacked on a shelf and 

the room can be locked.  The Product Receipt now containing both the barcode sticker for the 

product and the dual control bag can be filed in a pending file, to await return of the test results.   

 

 b. Procedure and documentation to establish safety and quality of all medical 

cannabis and medical cannabis products 

 

 AWC commits to maintaining the highest standards of health and safety for it members.  

AWC has established safe cultivation guidelines which addresses both the environment side as 

well as the MC side.  Organic gardens are strongly encouraged, using the best organic practices 

and water conservation.  All member producers (MP) have agreed to follow these guidelines.  

The use of harmful chemicals, pesticides, herbicides and growth enhancing additives is not 

allowed.   

 Following the receiving procedure detailed in steps 1-5 above, the test samples taken 

from each cultivation will be labeled with a barcode to identify its source, and provided to Steep 

Hill Laboratories (SHL).  SHL has agreed to establish a Humboldt County testing facility located 

on the Angelina Campus in Fernbridge, CA.  More information about SHL can be reviewed on 

their website: http://steephilllab.com   See Exhibit 19 for more information on Steep Hill 

http://steephilllab.com/


August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 63 

 
 

Laboratories.  SHL is considered by many to be among the best of the MC testing facilities in 

CA.  They have recently been certified as the official ―third party inspector ‖ for Mendocino 

County. SHL offers comprehensive medical cannabis safety screening and an independent 

certification system — consisting of the ―SafeCannabis™″ labels and stickers for participating 

dispensaries and growers — to self-regulate our processes in order to guarantee safe and clean 

medicines and advance the cause of cannabis therapeutics.  AWC will have three test performed 

that will provide the necessary information to allow AWC to accept or reject a delivery and to 

provide members with the information they need to make intelligent choices.  Test samples are 

provided to SHL for testing.  Initially, the biological tests will still be performed in their Oakland 

Lab.  The tests results are emailed and sent hard copy back to AWC within 3-5 days.  Results are 

then recorded in the database for the particular barcode identified supply.   

 

 c. Procedure and documentation for determining product  cannabinoid potency 

 

 As previously discussed, AWC will contract the laboratory and testing services of Steep 

Hill Lab in their Humboldt County facility.  Samples as previously described will be provided to 

SHL and authorized for testing.  The standard tests that will be conducted on samples are 

detailed below.  AWC will sequester under dual control all medicine in its possession until the 

testing results are returned, usually in 2-5 days.  AWC reserves the right to reject any supply in 

its possession and return it to the MP if the analysis indicates that use as a medicine would be 

harmful to a member.  However if the test results are acceptable, the results are entered into the 

AWC database for the particular supply tested. 

 

Potency Analysis 

 In commercial medicine, the potency of a drug is clearly stated on the label so one knows 

the correct dose. Unfortunately, this is not the case in medical cannabis. Cannabis Potency 

Testing enables patients to know the amount of active ingredients so they can be confident they 

are administering an appropriate dose. Taking the correct amount of medical cannabis can bring 

welcome relief to your symptoms; however taking too much can have very negative side effects 

such as feelings of anxiety and paranoia. 

Steep Hill Lab’s Cannabis Potency Analysis measures the major active compounds present in 

medical cannabis: 

 Tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) The main psychoactive component  

 Cannabidiol (CBD) A non-psychoactive important for pain relief and other health 

related effects  

 Cannabinol (CBN) A degradation product of THC also with health benefits  

 

The salient information taken from the lab reports will be posted with each variety available to 

members.  Upon request a printed copy of SLS’s analysis and percentage of THC, CBD, and 

CBN in each sample of cannabis will be available to members.  This gives members the 

information they need to compare strains and varieties. 

 

Microbiological Contaminants 

 Exposure to high levels of microorganisms such as molds and bacteria are known to 

cause health problems and can be particularly dangerous to patients that have existing medical 

problems. The Steep Hill Microbiological Screening Program ensures the safety of medical 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 64 

 
 

cannabis by identifying the type and level of microorganisms present in the medicine. Molds are 

ubiquitous and small amounts are found in almost every sample. However patients with existing 

health problems should not be exposed to medicines that contain large amounts. Medicines that 

contain bacteria should be destroyed.  Examples of molds and bacteria that can found in medical 

cannabis: Aspergillus, Pennicillium, Cladosporium, Alternaria, yeasts, and Escherichia Coli. 

 

Analysis will detect and show levels of the major contaminants.  The salient information taken 

from the lab reports will be posted with each variety available to members.  Upon request a 

printed copy of SLS’s analysis and percentages of microbiological contaminants in each sample 

of cannabis, will be available to members.  This gives members the information they need to 

compare strains and varieties. 

 

Harmful Pesticides: 

 Steep Hill Lab has developed residual pesticide tests so that medical cannabis patients are 

not exposed to harmful pesticide contaminates via their medicines. They have detected the 

presence of pesticide residue in medical cannabis samples that would be above USDA safe level 

in most agricultural products. However, currently there are no USDA guidelines for residual 

pesticides in medical cannabis.  The residual pesticide screen used at Steep Hill Lab detects the 

presence of pesticides that are most commonly used in cannabis cultivation;   Organophosphates, 

Carbamates, Pyrethroids, and Avermectins. 

 

XVI Other Elements of the CUP/CDP application 

 
a. Medical Marijuana Testing Facility 

 

Angelina Group LLC, the proposed owner of the parcel is proposing to develop a small testing 

facility in separate room on the parcel.  This room with private entrance is proposed to be lease 

to Steep Hill Lab (SHL), one of California’s largest and most respected medical cannabis testing 

laboratories. A letter of intent has been executed and is contained in this application see Exhibit 

9. A formal lease between the Angelina Group LLC and Steep Hill Lab is currently in process.   

SHL will be the sole owner and operator of this facility.  The Facility measures ~250 [/] with two 

entrances.  The lab will initially be an in-take facility where subject inventory is examined for 

purity and a homogeneous nature.  Random samples are then extracted, bagged and labeled with 

a unique lot number.  The remaining inventory is bagged in exactly 1 lb units using a light proof 

tamper resistant Mylar bag.  The Bag is evacuated of O2 and filled with Food-grade Nitrogen and 

sealed.  The air-tight sealed bag is then labeled with the same unique lot number and stored while 

waiting for test results.    The lab is planning to test for potency of THC, CBDs and CBN 

instantly on site, while sending the biological test samples for Mold, Mildew, Pesticide and 

Herbicides back to its Oakland facility.  The turn-around time for the balance of the testing is 3-5 

days.  As soon as possible, SHL will consider the full build-out of the Humboldt Co facility to 

include biological testing.  The only specialized equipment that will be needed is a laminar-flow 

biological test hood.  See Exhibit 8 .  This is a self-contained air circulation system using a 

HEPA filter and requires no external ventilation.   

 

b. Beer/Wine Bar and Grill 

 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 65 

 
 

Angelina Group LLC, the proposed owner of the parcel is proposing to upgrade and rehabilitate 

the Bar facility of the property.  The Bar facility will be operated as a Beer/Wine Bar and Grill, 

with all necessary County Health and Business licenses and a State liquor license.  While the 

business will be owned by the Angelina Group LLC, the daily operation of the Bar and Grill will 

be contracted to a long-time Humboldt County Italian restaurant, Mazzotti’s. This is not 

considered to be a change in use, as the Angelina Inn has been historically operated as a Bar and 

restaurant since its construction in 1933.  The Bar and Grill will not be connected physically or 

in operation with the Angelina Wellness Center.  The Bar and Grill will have separate public and 

employee entrances and separate emergency exits, separate kitchen and storage areas and 

separate male and female ADA compliant restrooms.  The construction of the ADA compliant 

male and female bathrooms has already been submitted to the Building Department and is in 

plan check at the time of this submission.  An additional submission will be made to the building 

department within 30 days for the build-out of the kitchen area, and any minor modifications to 

the bar facility itself, if necessary.   

 

c. Construction of a “Good Neighbor” fence. 

 

Angelina Group LLC, the proposed owner of the parcel is proposing to construct a 110 ft. ―good-

neighbor‖ fence along the east property line.  The fence will begin at the front of the parcel near 

the State Highway and proceed along the east line in a northerly direction until it meets an 

existing fence that was previously constructed that ran from the rear of the property to about half 

way to the front. The proposed fence is part of an application already submitted to the Co 

Building department and is currently in plan check.  It will be a wooden fence that is a 

continuation of an existing fence and using similar design and construction. The fence will use 

pressure treated 4x6 posts set in concrete on 8 ft centers, with a 2x10 pressure treated base plate 

and using full dimension 1‖x 6‖x 6’ dog-eared cedar planks.  While the ground topography is 

irregular the fence will be built at an approximate height of 6’.  There will be no gates in the 

fence.  Although there is a dense 30 ft tall hedge along the east property line, the adjoining 

property owner to the east is in full agreement with the construction of this ―privacy fence‖.  This 

fence has been shown on the plot/site plans that have been submitted herewith. 

 

d. Proposed Garden Supply 

 

 The Angelina Group, LLC is proposing to operate an outdoor Garden supply and limited nursery 

on approximately 7,500 [/] of raw land immediately north of the main building, (between the 

leach field and the property line along Fernbridge Dr.)  This site is indicated on the attached 

―Plot Plan‖.  The area will secured with a perimeter cyclone fence approximately 6’ high and the 

interior will be covered with small crushed rock.  All parking is proposed to be on the existing 

paved parking lot, with customer walking the 20 feet into the garden supply area.  A seasonal 

tent measuring about 12 X 16 is planned to be erected on the paved parking lot in the same 

location that the seasonal fruit and vegetable stand is currently operating.  It is possible that the 

Angelina Group may try to purchase the existing fruit stand storage facility and seasonal tent 

from the operators of that business.  At this moment, the seasonal lease to the Fruit & Vegetable 

stand will not be renewed in 2012, as the space will be used by the Angelina Group for the 

Garden Supply business.  The garden supply will offer products, bagged soils, small equipment, 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 66 

 
 

live plants and tools that are consistent with out-door planting and vegetable gardening.   This 

proposed use can be seen on the attached ―Plot Plan‖   

 

 

 

Section d. was added to the current proposal as an addendum as page 24a.  



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 67 

 
 

 

XVII  Summary of Submittal  
 

 AWC, by this submission is hoping to launch the next generation of Medical Cannabis 

Dispensing Collectives.  While it will operate a retail operation and provide an extensive array of 

member support services, it hopes to launch and perfect its wholesale model.  It is common 

knowledge that most, if not all Medical Cannabis Dispensaries can’t supply 100 % of the 

Medical Cannabis needs from their own internal grow operation or from their members. This 

condition forces them to curtail or reduce member operations or find alternate sources of Medical 

Cannabis.  Many of these alternate sources do not provide legal protection under California’s 

Medical Cannabis laws.  AWC’s model will take the first step to eliminating this situation, by 

supplying the shortfall amounts of Medical Cannabis on a wholesale basis to its member Medical 

Cannabis Dispensaries.  Since 100% of AWC’s Medical Cannabis inventory is derived from 

Humboldt County boutique Medical Cannabis farms and is outdoor sun grown, our carbon 

footprint and overhead is substantially less than indoor grown crops, as such AWC should be 

able to supply a superior product, that is environmentally friendly and for less than the cost the 

member Medical Cannabis Dispensaries are experiencing on their own indoor grows.   

 

XVIII Statement of Commitment to transparency and ethical business   

 
 215 Humboldt, Inc, Angelina Wellness Center, its Board of Directors and Officers have 

personally committed to create, practice and operate a 100% transparent and fully legitimate 

business that will practice the highest of business ethics.  AWC will not involve itself in any 

illicit activities and will insist and monitor is partners, vendors, member affiliates to practice the 

same high standard and resist any association with illicit operations.  All of AWC’s policies and 

procedures are designed to not only allow AWC to operate in a transparent and auditable 

environment but will assist all of its member-partners to embrace transparent and ethical 

business practices.  AWC is currently researching the mechanism and procedures to obtain DNA 

testing of its entire Medical Cannabis inventory.  When this step is perfected, and with our 

proprietary barcode system, our Humboldt County sun grown boutique products can be 

accurately traced from the farm to any location.  We believe the next generation of Medical 

Cannabis Dispensing will have cooperative working relationships with the authorities.  Providing 

DNA identification coupled with our electronic controlled chain of custody data we will be able 

to track with a very high degree of accuracy every ounce of Medical Cannabis from the field to 

the final destination.   

 We look forward to the future, and take the responsibility of designing our own future 

very seriously.  We are very pleased that the County of Humboldt is also taking bold steps to 

forward the legitimate and transparent business enterprises.  We know the whole state is 

watching this process and will do our best to be a transparent and ethical business make up of 

only the highest members of the business community. 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 68 

 
 
Respectfully submitted:   

 

William Thorington  

Larry Emry  

Bryan Sturgill  

Jesse Stockham  

Susan Campbell 

Rocio Emry 

  



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 69 

 
 

Exhibits: 

 

1. Insurance Declaration and offer to issue Pharmaceutical Liability Ins 

2. Vicinity Map of area north of Fortuna  

3. Vicinity Map of the Fernbridge area 

4. Photo map of Site 

5. Assessor’s Parcel Map – See Prelim 

6. Preliminary Title Report (2) 

7. Land Owners Statement – See Signed Application 

8. Ventilation Hood Specifications 

9. AWC – SHL Letter of Intent 

10. AWC Personnel Questionnaire 

11. Sample Background Report 

12. AWC New Member Registration Check List 

13. AWC Member Registration Form – Patient 

14. AWC Member Registration Form – Caregiver 

15. AWC Designation of Primary Caregiver 

16. AWC Member Terms & Conditions 

17. AWC Health Information Privacy Statement 

18. Sample Barcode Configuration 

19. Steep Hill Lab – Data Sheet 
 

  



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 70 

 
 

Section 12 

 
CORRESPONDENCE 

 
Correspondence Files are available for review at City Hall during 
regular business hours, Monday through Thursday, 9am to 4pm. 

  



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 71 

 
 

 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 72 

 
 

Section 13 

REPORTS 
 

Section 13a:  City Manager Staff Report 
CITY MANAGER: 
 
Meetings and Projects:  

 Kiwanis meeting 1st and 3rd Tuesday of the month at 4:30 pm 

 City Council- July 7th 5:30-9:00 pm 

 City Manager meeting- July 21st  3:00-5:00 pm 

 RCEA  July 18th - 3:00- 5:00 pm 

 Meeting with ERD  numerous meeting and discussions regarding universal pickup and greenwaste 

 Weekly meeting on WWTF progress with Manhard project manager. 

 Daily meetings with chief regarding police activities. 

 Daily interaction with Staff regarding daily workload. 

 Met with construction manager, Wahlund construction representative and USDA representative, to 
go over monthly pay request. Also went over construction progress, and change orders. We 
continue to look for ways to reduce costs and save time. They have made good progress in the last 
several months and have made up much of the time lost during the dewatering process in 
December and January. Still anticipate being on time and under budget. This update is the same as 
last month, but still remains true. We have a special meeting on 27th to go over the dewatering 
change order. 

 Continuing discussions with Fresnel lens committee members to go over a project to move Lens 
from fair to museum. We received the contractor’s estimate of costs for the renovation to museum 
to house the lens. The museum board has given conditional approval and we are writing proposal to 
Lytel foundation for funding approval. If successful we will send to Coast Guard to negotiate an 
agreement. Museum will ultimately have last say in approval. On the 25th the Fair Board gave 
approval to store museum items at fair grounds while construction is occurring at museum. We 
received a letter from CG saying they may withdraw their offer of a MOU regarding an agreement to 
let us continue the loan of the Fresnel lens. We are discussing a response to their letter. 

 Numerous conversations regarding Salt River Project with Watershed Council members, NRC 
representatives, council members and citizens. I have been working with NRC to help with some 
property owners who already have a relationship with the City. NRC is trying to complete the 
process of permitting and acquiring signatures from all the property owners along the project. I have 
met with Elias and Rick Sousa a number of times and went over some of their concerns and 
explained the project as well as the future relationship with Elias regarding our irrigation needs.  

 Numerous meetings with individual councilmen and the mayor regarding City issues.  

 The EECBG grant is moving forward and it looks like the construction should be complete before 
school starts. 

 Daily meetings with Public Works in morning to go over daily activities. Budgetary issues, fence 
between Firemen’s Park and Hadley property, Eugene Street connection to Russ Park and its parking 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 73 

 
 

issues. Creek maintenance and City Hall improvements have been topics as well as street 
improvements and the finalization of the street priority list. 

 Numerous discussions with Joe Koches to discuss a major piece of art from a world famous sculptor 
that might be available to the city if we wanted to put it in the city green. The chamber of commerce 
has voiced support for the idea. Koches will give a presentation as well as show pictures of the 
sculpture and discuss the possible placement of the sculpture and the duration of the temporary 
loan.  

 Daily discussions and updates on City Council agenda items and city issues with Treasurer. 
Considerable time in developing procedures and documentation relating to building and planning 
issues, and design review situations and interaction with PC and DR committee. Remember that the 
council has put a hold on enforcement issues relating to compliance until the committee has 
addressed changes to the sign ordinance. 

 Discussions with City Planner regarding design review and planning issues. Most of time spent on 
Housing Element, Historical and Cultural Resources Element, the general plan update and city 
budget. Asked them about signage ordinance for possible input. We have also discussed possible 
support of the staff for building and permitting.  

 Navy Housing: Conversations with Karen Ringel of the Navy regarding their progress in completing 
the lead and asbestos study and the remediation of house 101. We continue to work on alternatives 
for possible transfer of ownership. Numerous discussions with Elizabeth Conner regarding the 
conveyance process and the documentation and restrictions that will be required to preserve the 
spirit of the appropriation funding. The Navy has confirmed that they have completed all of their 
due diligence and are folding the lead and asbestos report into their environmental condition of 
property. We will still have to go through this document before we make a recommendation to 
Council regarding the acquisition of the property. We have a closed session meeting on the 27th to 
update the Council on the possible conveyance alternatives. 

 We have made a number of improvements around City Hall and the City Green and are continuing 
with more improvements on our priority list. Repair or replacement of the gutters, painting the 
building, replacement of some of the plants and shrubbery are some of the remaining tasks. Most of 
this work is being done at no cost to the City. I have also been in contact with Cal-fire to produce a 
new sign for City Hall. You might notice that after many years the light poles have new electrical 
covers on them that greatly enhance their appearance. We are lucky to have citizens and 
organizations that help us improve our parks and community.  

 Number of meetings with members of the SRWC regarding the operation and maintenance of the 
Salt River watershed after the project’s completion. This will be the area we focus on in the next few 
months. I have made some exploration into an organization that may be interested in helping with 
long-term funding to help with this task. 

 Numerous meetings with Gerald Silva regarding access to Russ Park through his property. I have 
researched this with PW’s and City files and our attorney and have had an opinion given from our 
traffic safety office, as well as had meetings and conversations with chairman of Russ Park 
committee. The chairman and I met with attorney and will meet with Gerald Silva before council 
meeting. My hope is that we can reach an agreement without any litigation. 

 Numerous conversations with Jimmy Smith and Hank Seemann regarding the sedimentation in 
Francis Creek and assessment of the emergency project we did last year to alleviate the flooding in 
and around the Port Kenyon area. It would seem that we are still a year or so away from the actual 
dredging project and we had twice the sediment load last year, so it might be necessary to remove 
some of that sediment to reestablish flow from Francis to the confluence of Salt River. 

 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 74 

 
 

 
CITY CLERK: 
 
Projects 

 The City Clerk is very proud of City Staff for taking over the City Clerk duties while she was out on 
medical leave. Clerk was available for phone consultations. 

 
Building and Encroachment Permits Issued 

563 Ocean Lateral inspection 
305 Lincoln Horse Barn 

 
 
FINANCIAL MANAGER/DEPUTY CITY CLERK: 
 
Meetings  

 Various meetings with City Manager on Budget 2011-2012 

 Meet with Auditor on New Budget 

 Meet with City Manager on various office issues 

 City Council Meeting 

 Planning Commission Meeting 
 

Projects 

 Payroll 

 Accounts Payable 

 Accounts Receivable 

 Answer Phones/Greet Visitors 

 Purchase Various Supplies 

 Receive and Process Business Licenses 

 Receive and Process Dog Licenses 

 Work with City Manager on new fiscal year budget 

 Update new fiscal year Budget 

 Print out New Fiscal Year Budget for Agenda 

 Research TOT  

 Bank Reconciliations 

 Request additional Transportation Development Act funds 

 Request copy of Scout Hall Fire Insurance bill 

 US Department of Labor Report 

 LAWCW Report 

 Caltrans Street Sweeping Letter 

 Letter of Debt & Investment 

 Little League Invoice 

 Del Oro Letter 

 Send HCAOG Transportation Development Act Budget for New Fiscal Year 
 

 
  



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 75 

 
 
CITY PLANNER: 
 

Meetings & Planning  

 Coordinated with City Manager and City Clerk on planning and development projects.  

 Consulted with City Manager regarding sign ordinance enforcement and update; historic district 
standards; and City document distribution and review procedures.  

 Completed CA Department of Housing and Community Development Survey of Affordable Housing 
for lower income households; including excel spreadsheet and online survey.        

 Provided Planning Commission July 20 meeting agenda packet preparation assistance. 
 

Projects 

 230 Francis St. - Coordinated with City Manager for application review, site visit, and review 
procedures.  Evaluated for potential impacts to distinguishing historic features. 

 132 Ocean Ave. - Began Lot Line Adjustment application review, drafted departmental referrals, and 
sent memo to City Engineer about compliance with zoning standards and application processing.  

 General Plan Update - Historical & Cultural Resources Element - Completed preparation of Draft 
Element and coordinated posting on City’s website and provided links for Chamber and Museum 
websites. Coordinated with City manager about City and public review of Draft Element. 

 General Plan Update - Housing Element Update - Completed response to March 1 Housing & 
Community Development (HCD) department letter.  Revised vacant land inventory figure and table. 
Completed small sites analysis based on HCD comments. Submitted informal response to HCD 
representative for review and comment.  

  
 
CITY ENGINEER: 
  
Sewer Projects 

 New Sewer Manholes Main Street, Cleanouts other locations  
o Project is out to bid.  Please place Action Item on Agenda for City Council meeting to award the 

project.  Bids will be opened July 28, 2011 and the Engineer’s recommendation will be provided 
to the City on July 29, 2011. 

 
Pedestrian Improvement Project   

 Focus project on Herbert Street (fine tune design) 

 Prepare Construction Documentation for bid ASAP 

 Review and comment on compliance documents for Doug Culbert 
 

Applications 

 Correct Keyes LLA, revisions to Notice of LLA per Assessor’s Office 

 Review Drainage Report for Matt Pidgeon 
 

General Engineering 

 ARRA reporting for Pedestrian Improvement Project 

 Review opportunities for new transportation projects funded by State or Federal sources 

 General support for cemetery boundary line correction 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 76 

 
 

 Review drainage report for Matt Pidgeon Subdivision 

 Scope street repair project at 4th and Shaw (work with Tim Miranda) 

 Maintain Road Mileage Update, including map corrections and Caltrans review 

 Attend HCOAG TAC Meeting 

 Prepare estimate and escription of Traffic Enhancement project (ramp upgrades) and submit to 
HCOAG 

 Review, edit and coordinate updates of City Maps 

 Working on a street improvement priority list 
 
Meetings and Committees 

 No meetings during May 
 
Reporting and Correspondence 

 Prepared monthly staff report 

 General correspondence and meetings with City Staff 
 
 
PUBLIC WORKS: 
 
Francis Creek 

 Walked Francis Creek looking for obstructions. 

 Ongoing – Follow up on creek and speaking with property owners. 

 Sending out letters to property owners. 
 

City Property 

 Firemen’s Park 
o Routine Maintenance, i.e. Mowing Park and Baseball Field. 
o Routine daily walk through to pick-up garbage.  
o Mowed the Bocce area and BB Field. 
o Replaced water line from meter to drinking fountain 
o Alder tree in the creek at the park from private property to the middle of the creek. 
o Worked on trash can lids. Need new springs. 
o Met with Willis Hadley regarding new fence lines, etc. 
o Repaired leak at the fountain. 
o Routinely cleaned Park Restrooms every day of the week including weekends. 

 Russ Park 
o Routine maintenance: Pulling out trash from trash & recycle bins daily. 
o Picked-up loose garbage from Russ Park. 

 Town Hall 
o Routine mowing and weedeating 
o Pull out trash daily 
o Removed old cement pads for new benches. Hauled away all debris. 
o Installed new benches. 
o Tightened up benches after they were all installed and glued end caps on. 
o Put on new light pole covers. 

 Library 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 77 

 
 

o Routine mowing and weed eating 
o Cut back brush at Library. 

 City Parking Lot 
o Picked up garbage – Routinely as least once a week unless otherwise warranted. 
o Cut back brush. 

 Main Street Restrooms 
o Routine maintenance: Daily cleaning and stocking of Main Street Restrooms – 7 days a week. 

 Community Center 
o Routine checking of CC when the facility is rented before and after. 
o Fixed the faucet. Cold water leak. 

 Children’s Center 
o Repaired the gate, needed new hinge. 

 Police Department 
o Routine mowing and weed eating 

 Scout Hall - Routine mowing and weedeating  

 Roadsides - Routine mowing and weed eating 

 Ferndale / Navy Housing 
o Had keys made for Ferndale / Navy Housing. 
o Walked through Navy Housing checking for water leaks, damages etc. 

 
Storm Drains 

 Removed debris from all the drains around town. – 

 Cleaned the storm drains in July. 
 

Sewers 

 Helped with project at the Elem. School. 
 
Streets and Sidewalks 

 Routine maintenance: Regular maintenance of roadside mowing. 

 Routine picking up trash at the edge of town. 

 Routine maintenance: Continuing to pick-up piles around town as resident call and request removal. 

 Routine maintenance: Sweep Main St., Monday, Wednesday and Friday mornings. 

 Marked out USA locates throughout town. – When needed. 

 Removing piles. 

 Property damage on McKinley, Dewey and Jacobsen Way. Stop signs and street signs knocked over. 
PW will have to jackhammer out the old cement and post and replace with metal 2” galvanized pipe. 

 Prioritize roads for upcoming meeting. 
 
Vehicle / Equipment Maintenance 

 Routine monthly maintenance and weekly maintenance on frequently used equipment. 
 
Miscellaneous 

 Routine paperwork. 

 Dealing with daily work orders as residents call. 

 Viewed Safety videos. 

 Went to Bay West to pick up supplies. 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 78 

 
 
WASTEWATER OPERATIONS:          

 Prepared monthly sample containers 

 CPO assisted City Staff with computer tech issues. 

 Miksis Services replaced 210 feet of clay main line pipe with HTPE pipe behind the elementary 
school. In an effort to save money operator Coppini did the prep work digging the trenches for the 
pipe bursting machinery to be placed. Public works assisted with the project. 

 CPO completed ARRA Reporting for the USDA loan and grant 

 Filled out POs for monthly invoices 

 Ongoing inspection and site visits to WWTP construction site; consults with contractors 
o Portland Engineering was on site for preliminary set up of the network that will control the 

facility. 
o Met with DCI to discuss placement of door locks 
o Brought in Hank Brenard from the City of Fortuna to discuss and plan with Wahlund seeding 

of new facility with sludge from their plant. 
o Office furniture delivered  

 Monthly meeting with Debbie Coggins, USDA 

 2010 Dump Truck in to Harpers to get starter replaced. Warrantee item 

 Brief meeting with City Manager and Elias Sousa to discuss contract for irrigating. 

 Staff did field work documenting manhole depths for the GIS mapping system 

 HSU completed the field work for the GIS mapping of our collection system. Now they input data 
provided by staff with vitals from each manhole and portions of the collection system 

 RFP went out for the additions of four manholes on Main Street and Harrison.  

 CPO attended two CWEA board meeting in Eureka and Mckinleyville 

 CPO assisted in office answering phones and helping customers while office staff gone.  

 CPO downloaded video files from June City Council meeting. Edited files and burned to DVD for 
archiving. 

 CPO reviewed and signed daily operation sheets for WWTF  

 CPO performed the daily operation of WWTP during operator Coppini’s scheduled day off. 

 Monthly Self Monitoring Report to the Regional Board was completed and mailed. 

 Operator Coppini performed general maintenance around the facility 

 Operator Coppini filed online SSO report.  

 Operator Coppini performed the normal in-house weekly and monthly testing and scheduled lab 
work to be done. 

 

POLICE DEPARTMENT: 

 Officers provided assistance and monitored the 4th of July parade.   

 Chief Smith attended Kiwanis meetings/functions. 

 Chief Smith attended the monthly LECAH meeting. 

June 2011 Flows Average Minimum Maximum 

Influent MGD .289 NA NA 

Effluent MGD .256 .133 .345 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 79 

 
 

 Chief Smith was elected Humboldt County’s Police Chief representative for the state-mandated 
Community Corrections Partnership Executive Committee. 

 Officer Diaz attended the monthly LETMA meeting. 

 Officers monitored and provided traffic control for the July 4th celebration and fireworks display at 
the fairgrounds. 

 Officer Frank and Chief Smith facilitated an open house and presentation to children from the 
children’s center. 

Police Statistics – June 2010 

SERIOUS CRIMES Number Cleared 
Homicide 0   
Rape 0   
Robbery 0   
Larceny 0   
Assault 0   
Burglary 0   
Vehicle Theft 0  
  
TOTAL 0 
SECONDARY CRIMES 2 
Calls for Service 51 
Reports Written 7 
  
Traffic Citations 14 
Other Citations 5 
Parking Citations 6 
Warnings 43 
ARRESTS 1 
AGENCY ASSISTS 15 
TRAFFIC COLLISIONS 1 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 80 

 
 

Section 13b: Commissions, Committees and Others 
 

Design Review Meeting 7/7/11 – no quorum 
 

Planning Commission Meeting 7/20/11 – no quorum 

 
 
 

 
 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 81 

 
 

Section 13c: Council Reports and Comments



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 82 

 
 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 83 

 
 

 
  



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 84 

 
 

  



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 85 

 
 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 86 

 
 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 87 

 
 



August 4, 2011 CITY COUNCIL MEETING P a g e  | 88 

 
 

 
  

Section 14 

ADJOURNMENT 


